

AOTEAROA NATIONAL CENTRE FOR TERTIARY TEACHING EXCELLENCE



# Taking the Lead

Strategic Management for e-Learning

### Contents

The Commission	3
Caveats and Acknowledgements	4
The Themes	5
National Strategic Context	6
Thematic Questions	8
1. Institutional strategy, planning and policies	8
2. What is your intended market for e-learning?	12
3. Organisational structure	18
4. Resourcing	23
5. Collaboration	31
6. Staff development, instructional design and course development	36
7. Teaching and learning	47
8. Student support	48
9. Assessment and moderation	53
10. Technological infrastructure	55

This project is intended to develop a set of resources and tools that will assist institutional leaders to plan and manage their use of e-learning more strategically. Much of the published research and analysis of policy and practice in this field has been authored by and targeted at teachers and information technology (IT) specialists rather than those responsible for institutional strategy and leadership. To begin to address this important audience, it is first necessary to identify the issues of significance for which they must take direct responsibility. This resource is an attempt to identify these issues and express them as questions that leaders should be asking of their institutional strategy, policy and practice. Case studies illustrating a number of these strategic options are drawn from across the New Zealand tertiary education sector.

### The Commission

In the early development of e-learning, it is not surprising that research has tended to focus on the technical and pedagogical aspects of this technology. Research-funding agencies have supported this early and necessary focus of effort. As the technology has matured and as e-learning is making a claim to become a more integral feature of tertiary education, some commentators are beginning to identify other issues that need to be researched with respect to e-learning. In particular, they are noting the importance of institutional strategy and institutional leadership in encouraging and guiding the development of e-learning (Marshall, 2004).

The New Zealand Ministry of Education (MoE) has been supporting research into elearning for more than a decade. One source, the Tertiary e-Learning Research Fund, has been funding research in this area since 2003. Each year applications are sought against a number of identified research themes. In most years these themes have included mention of funding models, leadership or institutional strategy, as well as a focus on pedagogy, staff development and technology. However, each year the funding awards committee has been disappointed by the almost total absence of applications exploring these more strategic themes.

In 2007, the Tertiary e-Learning section of the MoE decided to commission a project to begin to address this gap in the knowledge base. Specifically, it commissioned a small team, working under the aegis of Ako Aotearoa: National Centre for Tertiary Teaching Excellence, to develop a set of resources to assist institutional leaders to plan and manage their use of e-learning more strategically. The team comprised Dr Andrew Higgins, Director of e-Learning, AUT University; Tom Prebble, Emeritus Professor of Massey University, and Gordon Suddaby, Director, Centre for Academic Development and e-Learning, Massey University. The contract was finalised in August 2007 and was scheduled to run through to May and June 2008. The contract specified a number of areas that the resources should canvas and asked that the resources be illustrated with case studies from current practice among New Zealand tertiary education institutions (TEIs). The final outputs of the project include a written

report, a set of online resources, and an introduction of the resources to the target audience of senior tertiary leaders.

In August 2007 the research team began the study with a series of interviews with heads of peak education bodies and quality assurance bodies in the tertiary sector. These interviews helped clarify some of the strategic issues requiring attention and confirmed the lack of strategic guidance available to institutional leaders in this area. The team then began its work on the strategic resources and, in parallel with this work, began identifying and approaching heads of TEIs that appeared to illustrate some of the themes that were emerging. The case study interviews were short and sharp, focusing on the strategic issue and not attempting to canvass all aspects of an institution's e-learning activities.

The team developed a set of ethics protocols that were approved by Massey University, the host institution for Ako Aotearoa. These protocols set the terms for the gathering and publishing of data on the institutional case studies. In summary, these included two important conditions. The first was that case study institutions and, where necessary, individual managers might be identified by name. The second condition was that no case study account would be published without the approval of the designated senior manager from the respective institution.

### **Caveats and Acknowledgements**

The team has been very conscious that this project has not conformed to the normal canons of empirical research. It has drawn heavily on the professional experience of the case study respondents and even more heavily on the experience of the members of the project team. This experience will almost certainly have coloured the findings and recommendations of the study.

We have attempted to mitigate this effect by adopting an interrogative structure for the report. The framework for the report is a list of strategic questions that institutional leaders should be asking about the strategic development of e-learning within their institutions. We have then discussed the significance of each question and answers that are likely to be available for each. In places, we have given stronger advice and argued for or against various options. Some of the target readership of this resource may disagree with our advice and even with our analysis. These are extremely complex and contingent issues and we should not expect common answers even to common questions. In some respects, if a reader is able to disagree strongly with any position we are taking here, it is an indication that the reader has seriously engaged with the analysis as well as with their own institutional context.

The second caveat has to do with the institutional case studies incorporated into the resources. These case studies are presented with the following qualifications:

- Each case study is intended to illustrate a single theme from our report. To achieve this end within a couple of pages of text, it has sometimes been necessary to present a partial and even over-simplified picture of the case institution.
- These cases are presented as examples of the themes in question, not as 'best' or 'worst' practice.
- Only some 15 institutions were invited to contribute a case study for this study. The cases were selected on the basis of the researchers' knowledge and advice from a small group of contacts about activity across the sector. This knowledge and the selection that took place will inevitably be limited. In many instances, readers may know of institutions that provide equally helpful or even better illustrations of the themes under discussion. We appreciate the generosity of those institutions that agreed to participate in the study and apologise to any institution that was not invited to do so.
- While the case descriptions are entirely the responsibility of the writers, the respondents in the various institutions were encouraged to correct any errors of fact or interpretation and to approve the final drafts of all texts.

The project team would like to acknowledge and thank the institutions that agreed to participate and be the subject of cases studies. Notwithstanding the assurance that they reserved the right of final veto over these case accounts, their cooperation was a brave and reassuring gesture in this immediately post-competitive era. We would also like to thank the team from the Tertiary e-Learning section of the MoE for their continued support for this project. Along with that thanks, we need to confirm that the judgements reached and advice proffered in these resources are that of the project team alone and not the official position of the Ministry.

### The Themes

These resources take the form of a series of questions that institutional leaders should be asking of their strategies for e-learning. To provide some order to these questions, as well as some assurance that they are reasonably comprehensive, it is necessary to identify the themes from which the questions flow. The framework we have used is informed by the one adopted in the report of a working party convened by David Woodhouse of the New Zealand Universities Academic Audit Unit (NZUAAU) in 1999 (Butterfield, S. et al., 1999). The researchers found this set of categories particularly helpful for its emphasis on planning, administration and organisational structure. We have simplified this list to include:

- 1. planning and administration;
- 2. organisational structure;
- 3. staff development and effectiveness;

- 4. instructional design and development;
- 5. teaching and learning;
- 6. student support;
- 7. collaborative and international arrangements;
- 8. assessment and moderation;
- 9. technological infrastructure.

The project comprised five separate analyses of:

- 1. institutional strategies, planning and policies;
- 2. IT staff and student support systems needs.
- 3. quality assurance and professional development policies and operations;
- 4. curriculum and pedagogies models;
- 5. assessment and financial assurance models.

This report combines the data derived from these five analyses and presents them under the nine-fold category system developed by the 1999 NZUAAU study mentioned above.

Before beginning to consider these themes, it may be useful to consider the emerging national strategy that is informing funding and strategy in this area.

### **National Strategic Context**

Tertiary education organisations (TEOs) are being encouraged to plan their activities on the basis of national priorities. These priorities are promulgated through various strategic and policy statements issued by the Tertiary Education Commission (TEC), the MoE and the New Zealand Qualifications Authority (NZQA) to mention just the major players. The topics of information and communications technologies (ICT), elearning and the related areas of flexible learning and distance education have all been the subject of recent and ongoing strategic consideration.

Arguably, the key strategic statement in this area is the ICT Strategic Framework for Education, 2008-2012. This statement was published in 2008 and its implications are still being actively considered by the sector. The body of the document is less than ten pages long and deserves close consideration by all institutional leaders. It is not our intention to paraphrase it here other than to note that the policy is challenging the sector:

- to make optimal use of high-speed internet connections;
- to collaborate across the sector in the development and sharing of resources and services;

- to invest in and use shared digital repositories of content;
- to use ICT to support the provision of lifelong learning opportunities;
- to ensure that learners and teachers are proficient in a range of current and emerging ITs;
- to ensure that learners, teachers and administrators are well supported in their use of ICT in their work and that they learn to make effective use of emerging tools for online collaboration and communication;
- to ensure that all investment in ICT is measured against agreed standards for value-for-money.

The ICT Strategic Framework for Education sits within a broader context of government strategy. The following table, drawn from the Framework document, provides a point of access to the other key strategic documents.

Strategy	Relevance to ICT Strategic Framework for Education
The Digital Strategy – Creating Our Digital Future <u>http://www.digitalstrategy.govt.</u> <u>nz</u>	The Framework is based on the components of the National Digital Strategy: Connection, Content and Confidence (which includes Capability).
	It aligns with the Digital Strategy's overall outcome that all New Zealanders can enjoy benefits of ICT, including access to knowledge resources, digital skills and confidence to find and use information, seamless delivery of government information, services and processes, etc.
e-Framework for Education and Research <u>http://www.e-framework.org</u>	The Framework has been developed across the e-Framework's dimensions of Learning and Teaching, Research and Administration, and aligns with its development of common approaches to ICT infrastructure components in education and research.
Enabling Transformation – Strategy for e-Government 2006 <u>http://www.e.govt.nz/about-</u> egovt/strategy	The Framework includes targets around the delivery of services to the education sector, the provision of and access to reliable and secure information, the adoption of standards, the development of ICT skills and competencies frameworks, all of which are congruent with the aims of the Strategy for e- Government.
Creating a Digital New Zealand - New Zealand's Digital Content Strategy <u>http://www.digitalcontent.govt.n</u> <u>Z</u>	The Framework's content targets fit with the Digital Content Strategy's goals around the creation, protection, accessibility, discoverability, sharing, use, comprehension, management and preservation of New Zealand's digital content.

Foundations for Discovery – Supporting Learning in Early Childhood Education through ICT <u>http://www.minedu.govt.nz/got</u> <u>o/10417</u>	Foundations for Discovery's goals of sharing knowledge, accessing resources, introducing effective practices and systems, and assisting early childhood educators to become confident and capable ICT users are all captured by the goals and targets of the ICT Strategic Framework for Education.
Enabling the 21 <sup>st</sup> Century Learner – An e-Learning Action Plan for Schools 2006– 2010 <u>http://www.minedu.govt.nz/got</u> <u>o/10475</u>	The Framework is aligned with the broad goals of the e-Learning Action Plan for Schools, around ICT-assisted effective teaching; ICT-facilitated communication with families and whanau; evidence-based e-teaching practice promulgated across teaching community; sustainable and reliable ICT infrastructure in schools, supporting access to information and resources, improved management, planning and business processes and systems.
Taking the Next Step – The Interim Tertiary e-Learning Framework (ITeLF) <u>http://cms.steo.govt.nz/eLearni</u> <u>ng/Downloads/Tertiary+e-</u> <u>Learning+Framework/showall.</u> <u>htm</u>	The Framework broadly upholds the ITeLF's goals of the adoption of common technical standards; the institution of effective professional development around ICT; the development of national mechanisms/protocols for electronic rights management and sharing information and resources; and the encouragement and facilitation of online communities of interest.

### **Thematic Questions**

### 1. Institutional strategy, planning and policies

It might be suggested that there are two key strategic questions that institutional leaders should ask of e-learning:

- Does your management team acknowledge that the rapid evolution of ICT will demand a fundamental process of strategic transformation of your institution?
- Does your institution have a well-defined set of operational strategies aimed at technology-enhanced responsiveness and associated organisational development?

We would take issue with the first question, which implies there is only one 'right' answer. It falls into the error that has bedevilled the discourse on e-learning for more than a decade: that of arriving at a solution before we have clarified the problem. An overriding objective of this project is to assist institutional leaders to clarify the questions they need to ask, and find answers for, before accepting a ready-made e-learning solution. It may be that, following this interrogative process, a management

team will readily acknowledge the need to transform fundamentally their institution to accommodate the coming role of digitally mediated learning and teaching. Having asked and answered these questions, that team should have a reasonable idea of how the transformation should take place. On the other hand, the answers they reach might suggest something rather less than a full-scale transformation is called for. In this case, they will have saved their institution a poor investment of time and resources.

The second question is closer to the mark. While it still assumes that e-learning must be an important factor for a modern TEO, it challenges institutions to ensure that they have an integrated set of operational strategies to ensure that this can take place. The point is worth emphasising because, in a great many institutions, it does not happen at present.

Most TEIs, with even one foot in the e-learning water, will have a published strategy on e-learning. These strategies will vary enormously in scope and emphasis, depending on the nature of the enterprise and their aspirations. These are important and necessary documents that provide a focused strategic statement about this important area of development and activity. Anyone seeking to understand how the institution plans to develop and use online technology to support its teaching programme should find this the most coherent and informative planning document available.

The problem with such documents is that, all too frequently, their themes and imperatives are not picked up and integrated with the other key strategic planning instruments of the institution. At worst, they are lofty statements of intent with few of the strategies, resources or processes required to put them into action. At best, they provide sound guidance and direction.

Institutional leaders with a serious commitment to e-learning should ensure that the strategic directions to be found in the e-learning strategy are strongly reflected and supported in the other strategic instruments of the organisation. These are likely to include the following:

- The institution's long-term strategy, annual plans and reports, and long-term financial strategy. These are the institution's public and internal statements about the nature of its business, its stakeholders and students, what it intends to do over the coming planning period and how it proposes to resource it. If e-learning is to be a significant activity, it should feature prominently in any and all of these documents.
- The institutional Investment Plan. This is the recently introduced process whereby each institution negotiates its funding for the upcoming period with the TEC on the basis of planned programmes, target markets and anticipated enrolment levels. The TEC has indicated its willingness to provide targeted funding to programmes

employing e-learning, so any institution wishing to further its development with this medium will need to feature these intentions in its Investment Plan.

- The Teaching and Learning Plan. This plan indicates how the institution will deliver its teaching programme and will canvas issues such as delivery modes, teaching support and assessment. Again, the e-learning strategy should be a component of the Teaching and Learning Plan rather than something that stands separate from it.
- There will be other functions and units within the institution that are critical to elearning. The strategic plans for these should give appropriate attention to elearning. These are likely to include the IT section, the capital budget planning process, the library, student affairs, learning support, institutional marketing, human resources and staff development.
- Risk management is another area of institutional planning and strategy that needs to take account of e-learning because it relies on technology and is an activity that can expose the institution to considerable risks should failure occur. Institutional planning needs to account for such an eventuality.

The exhortation to comprehensive strategic planning will not be especially helpful to busy institutional leaders. They should reasonably expect that specialist staff in the various sections of the institution would provide them with ongoing advice on all matters of institutional strategy and operations. The critical issue for a great many leaders is how they assess that advice. As the earlier strategic questions suggests, e-learning is a field more given to solutions than to questions.

Leaders need to ask the right questions about e-learning before they are in any position to assess the merit of the solutions that are being advocated. While the solutions that are being proposed are likely to be various and changing, the questions will be more generic. The purpose of this resource is to suggest what these generic questions might be and to encourage institutional leaders to ask them before accepting ready-made solutions. The answers to these questions should help institutional leaders arrive at solutions that fit the needs of their own institutions rather than accepting other people's solutions to other people's problems.

The first strategic questions often concern purpose and market:

### 1.1. What are your objectives for e-learning?

The most important question that institutional leaders need to ask concerning elearning is what is hoped to be achieved through this medium – what are the objectives? If e-learning is the answer, what is the question? It is vital that institutional strategy builds on appropriate objectives, rather than being driven by seductive technologies and their passionate advocates.

There are generally only five objectives for an institution to introduce e-learning:

### 1.1.1. To enhance the quality of the student learning experience.

This objective is commonly expressed by a series of sub-objectives which reflect the range of functions that are possible to support through e-learning. For example:

- to provide students with ready access to course-specific learning resources;
- to provide students with access to more generic Internet resources and library services in support of their study;
- to provide a cost-effective medium for developing and sharing multimedia learning resources;
- to support a rich online discourse among and between teachers and students in support of the learning experience;
- to support the assessment of student learning on a continuous basis.

### 1.1.2. To improve access and flexibility of study for students

e-Learning has the ability to overcome some of the barriers of time and distance that commonly prevail in classroom-based teaching. Study can take place at a time and place that suits the student. Communication between the student and the teacher and with other students can take place at a distance and in either real-time or asynchronously. Students who may have difficulty meeting the requirements of campus-based study – such as those with disabilities, the house-bound and those in the workforce – are able to fit their study around their circumstances rather than the other way round.

### 1.1.3. To increase enrolments by targeting new groups of potential students

e-Learning lends itself well to promoting access to learning. An institution is able to service students beyond its normal enrolment catchment and can provide a more flexible suite of study options that generally involves a reduction in the amount of time students are required to attend class. An institution may embark on e-learning in the expectation that its enrolments will grow to foster lifelong learning.

### 1.1.4. To achieve improved efficiencies in the delivery of teaching services.

Institutions may hope to achieve some efficiencies through the introduction of elearning. Some aspects of e-learning lend themselves to economies of scale. Once the initial investment has been made in the development of infrastructure and online courseware, and depending on the approach to tuition that is adopted, the marginal cost of servicing each successive student enrolment may be quite small.

### 1.1.5. To meet the service expectations of students, staff and stakeholders

Institutions may sometimes embark on e-learning because, in a competitive tertiary market, it is expected of them. At a time when the great majority of universities, ITPs

and other TEOs provide a basic level of support for e-learning, and both teachers and students have a growing expectation that they should be able to support their teaching and study online, institutions may feel compelled to do likewise. Institutions may also feel under some expectation from their funders to commit to this delivery mode.

These objectives are explored in more detail in subsequent sections.

At this point, institutional leaders should:

- ensure that their strategy for e-learning is based on objectives rather than solutions;
- accept that the e-learning objectives will vary across the institution's programmes but that each set of objectives should be consistent with the overall institutional strategy;
- understand that only the first, second and fifth of the objectives listed above are likely to be satisfied by their institution's e-learning efforts;
- accept that the objectives of both the institution and of individual programmes will change over time and should be subject to continuous review.

### 2. What is your intended market for e-learning?

This question can have several dimensions:

### 2.1. Are you targeting new or existing students?

It is very important to be clear whether a new e-learning strategy is intended primarily to service the institution's existing student enrolment or whether it is being mounted to attract a new group of students.

### 2.1.1. Programmes targeting existing students

Many institutions introduce e-learning in order to provide an enhanced, or differentiated, service for their current student population. They may do this for a number of reasons: to increase the range of study options and therefore flexibility for students; to improve the quality of their programmes by enhancing the range of teaching and learning services provided to students; to resist the competition from other institutions that are offering e-learning services; or to reduce their costs. Any of the first three reasons are legitimate reasons to commit to e-learning. The final reason – to reduce costs – is almost certainly not a realistic expectation to have from diversifying into e-learning. This will be explored more fully in the section on resources but the great weight of evidence suggests that, at best, an investment in e-learning will be cost-neutral for the institution. More likely, it will incur additional costs.

#### 2.1.2. Programmes targeting new student markets

e-Learning is often introduced in order to attract additional students. This objective needs thorough scrutiny. There are probably just three opportunities for a conventional, campus-based, regional institution to grow its student enrolments through the introduction of some form of e-learning.

The first market would be people in the workforce needing to upgrade their vocational skills and qualifications and looking for an opportunity to do so in a part-time, flexible way. This group of people will either want to study fully by distance means or they will seek some form of blended learning delivery, where their time on campus is reduced and concentrated into blocks and their private study is supported by e-learning. The average regional TEI should be very cautious about venturing into e-learning solely with this first group in mind. The size of the market for independent distance learning is a limited one. Historically in New Zealand, this market has been served by just two or three providers. New providers in this market are likely to find it very difficult to attract enough of a market to justify their expenditure. Regional institutions have been much more successful in attracting students from their own region by an appropriate blend of concentrated campus-based study and e-learning. This form of delivery takes advantage of the institution's regional location but accommodates the students' other time commitments.

The second market might be in those subject areas where the institution is a strong market leader, or where it is one of only a small number of providers. In such instances, students may be attracted from outside an institution's region.

The third market might be in a vocational subject where the total number of students, even at a regional level, is potentially quite large. Currently, the most obvious example of such a subject would be business studies and the response from the sector is instructive. Attempts by individual Independent Tertiary Providers (ITPs) to offer the New Zealand Diploma in Business by e-learning have been expensive and not remarkably successful. Providers are now collaborating to design a common online programme for which individual institutions can offer tutorial support to local students. There may be a small number of other subjects that would offer sufficiently large enrolments to justify such an approach.

In summary, there are only a few opportunities for institutions to grow their enrolments substantially by offering e-learning. They need to be very confident in the size of these markets and of their ability to attract them before committing to a growth strategy.

## 2.2. Are you targeting students studying primarily at a distance or primarily on campus?

This is a key question to address. Many institutions engage in e-learning primarily to support their campus-based teaching. They do so to provide students with ready access to course material, library resources and the Internet. They may also want to allow greater support for course-related online communications by way of email, class discussions and group project work. They may want to take advantage of some of the administrative and evaluation tools that are available through an online Learning Management System (LMS). They may intend to use e-learning to provide teaching staff with greater flexibility in the timing and intensity of conventional face-to-face tuition.

In the on-campus cases, e-learning is being used to support, rather than to replace, the face-to-face delivery of teaching, communication, assessment and administrative services. This is a valid reason for an institution to invest in a level of e-learning support for teaching and learning. However, it has some implications for the institution's assessment of cost and economic return from this development. It may also have some implications for the extent and standards of service the institution will attempt to assert using this medium. In short, if e-learning is being used to supplement rather than replace a given model of campus-based teaching and learning, the cost of these additional services may be a more pressing issue than the uniformity or even the quality of that service. In the worst case, if the e-learning medium fails to deliver a quality service, the students have the face-to-face service to fall back on.

Alternatively, the institution may plan to use e-learning to be the principal medium for teaching, assessing, supporting and managing students studying at a distance or independently of face-to-face, campus-based teaching and support. This option imposes a much higher threshold of service delivery on the e-learning system than does the previous case. There are various models available to guide an institution in its assessment of the full extent of these services and capabilities. The national New Zealand e-Learning Guidelines (elg.massey.ac.nz) provide a substantial source of questions and information about the use of e-learning strategies. Another New Zealand-based model that is attracting growing support is the e-Learning Maturity Model (eMM). In summary, the eMM identifies five sets of processes any institution should have in place to provide effective delivery and support for e-learning:

- processes that ensure that teaching and learning online follows the most appropriate pedagogic practice;
- processes that ensure that online courses are well developed and are delivered within a well-designed and robust framework;

- processes that ensure that both students and staff are adequately supported in their efforts to teach, learn, communicate and manage within an online environment;
- processes that ensure adequate evaluation of online programmes and teaching;
- processes that ensure that online programmes are well planned, resourced and managed within an appropriate institutional or unit strategy.

This important question of quality and standards will be explored in a later section. The key question to resolve at this point is whether e-learning will be employed as a supplement to conventional campus-based study or whether the intention is to use it to provide the primary medium for the teaching and support of off-campus students. In most cases, the answer to this question is likely to be 'both', in which case it will be important to determine the balance between the two. There is a range of possibilities between the two extremes. Most of these possibilities will be variants of another two broad options, each of which has quite different implications in terms of institutional strategy, standards and support.

The first option entails providing an optional 'online' stream to provide a distance education choice for an unspecified number of courses that are otherwise designed with campus-based delivery in mind. This is a high-risk and ultimately a high-cost strategy. The risk is incurred by committing to provide an acceptable level of service – in all the categories specified by Marshall and others – across an unspecified array of individual courses and programmes. Most institutions will find it very difficult to meet these standards right across their portfolio of programmes. The cost will be incurred in being forced to deliver and support an extensive set of design, delivery, support and management processes for what is likely to be only a modest online enrolment across a great many programmes.

The second option entails identifying a given number of programmes for delivery primarily to off-campus students by e-learning. This option allows an institution to identify and target programmes that offer good prospects of strong online enrolments and to focus the provision of online support services on these particular programmes. Conversely, it avoids the risk and the expense involved in committing a similar level of investment to converting courses with few prospects of attracting sustainable online enrolments.

This question is of critical strategic importance to any institution. While the answer may change over time, it is important that it continues to be asked and answered at a strategic level in the organisation.

### 2.3. Are you planning to offer this programme offshore?

e-Learning appears to offer institutions the prospect of participating in the global education market. New Zealand qualifications are generally well regarded internationally and e-learning would seem to be a cost-effective way to take these qualifications to a huge potential market. Institutions considering entering this market need to consider the following:

- Offshore enrolments will not attract government funding and will therefore need to be charged at full cost.
- In most international markets distance education, by whatever mode, is seen to be a second-class option and commands a seriously discounted fee structure.
- The provision of online and distance education in Asia is dominated by a small number of very large-scale, specialist distance education providers from within the Asian region. These institutions offer high-quality programmes at low cost to the students.
- Most international students considering studying with a New Zealand institution are interested in gaining higher-level academic qualifications and not in 'cherry-picking' individual courses. This means that any New Zealand provider needs to commit to offering an entire qualification over the mediumto-long term.
- China, New Zealand's largest potential market for this form of delivery, has a system of licensing that will not recognise distance or online qualifications delivered unilaterally by New Zealand providers in 2008.
- The legal, regulatory and servicing complications associated with offshore provision of distance education are labyrinthine.
- International consortium arrangements for the delivery of online qualifications are struggling to arrive at an effective business model for their work and consortium members are still waiting to see any significant return on their investment.

Very few New Zealand providers have had any success in this market. There are some instances where institutions are using e-learning to support some form of 'twinning' arrangement with an offshore provider. But in most such cases, the predominant delivery mode is face-to-face, with the New Zealand provider offering only additional support online. The offshore component of these relationships seldom yields any financial return to the New Zealand provider, their economic viability depending entirely on the New Zealand-based component of the students' programme.

### 2.4. What is the scope of your institution's plans for e-learning?

This is a two-dimensional question. Which of the institution's programmes will use elearning? And what kind of services will these programmes commit to?

These may be difficult questions to answer definitively and finally. Most institutions begin their involvement with e-leaning on a small scale and grow this use over time. At these early stages, e-learning can be treated as a pilot. Targeted resources can be provided on a one-off basis. A small, enthusiastic project team can provide most of the necessary production and support effort. Participation can remain entirely voluntary, and the project can be allowed to run largely independently of the institution's normal servicing and administration systems.

However, as the scale of the activity increases, teachers start to ask for professional development, for time in which to develop online resources, and for appropriate software and network services. Service units within the institution seek to upgrade their capacity to cope with the new demands of this medium and the need to articulate it with their own information systems. As e-learning becomes the rule rather than the exception, issues of standards and expectations come to the fore. The institution is driven to ensuring a closer integration among the various teaching, service and administrative systems and e-learning becomes core business rather than a value-adding option.

Depending on the stage each institution is at in this process, and the rate of uptake it anticipates in the future, the leadership will be faced with another set of questions and challenges to do with resourcing, management and policy. These questions are discussed at more length later. At this stage, the important question leaders need to ask is: how big a part will e-learning play in this institution over the next few years? Will it remain an optional extra adding value to a handful of our courses, or is it likely to become our core business? It is not suggested here that there is a universally right answer to this question. It is a question to which each institution needs to find its own answer.

## 2.5. Does your strategy actually require any e-learning to take place at all?

This oddly phrased question is designed to alert institutional leaders to a common shortcoming in e-learning strategies. Many strategic statements focus almost exclusively on developing institutional capacity to develop, deliver and support e-learning rather than giving at least equal treatment to the more important question of how they plan to use this capacity. This conclusion is supported by the recently published *Report on the Distance and Flexible Education Capability Assessment of the New Zealand ITP Sector* (March, 2008). Governments tend to focus on building capability in terms of networking, connectivity, standards and policy and funding models. Institutions tend to focus on developing end-user connectivity, campus

networking, software support, instructional design and staff development. Admittedly, institutions need to develop a level of capacity before they can engage in e-learning, but this capacity-building is a necessary rather than a sufficient foundation for an effective e-learning programme. 'If we build it, they will come' is a metaphor that has not served e-learning at all well. Most of our larger TEOs now have the capacity to support a far richer, more extensive provision of e-learning than is in fact being offered. One reason for this shortfall in performance may be that institutions frequently neglect to specify with any precision how they intend to use e-learning, which programmes will employ it, with what functionality and directed at what student market.

These questions will be explored in later sections of this resource. At this point it is sufficient to ensure that strategy is a guide to action rather than a commitment to provide the means for action.

The case studies identify a range of response to the need to drive e-learning strategy from core institutional strategy. Otago Polytechnic provides an example of strong strategic direction at a corporate level. Otago University is an example of an e-learning strategy nested within a Teaching and Learning Plan which is in turn nested within a University Strategy, each level of which is monitored and driven by a governance group. Canterbury University avoids the danger of technology capture by not developing an explicit plan for e-learning at all, preferring to drive all planning for e-learning from their broader Teaching and Learning Plan. Te Whare Wānanga O Awanuiārangi is using e-learning to support its strategic mandate to provide educational services on a national basis. Many of the other case studies illustrate aspects of strategic planning as well.

### 3. Organisational structure

## 3.1. How should e-learning be managed within the institution? Specifically, who should be responsible for what?

Conventional classroom teaching requires a very straightforward allocation of roles and responsibilities. Once a teacher has been allocated a class of students, a timetable and a classroom, they are left to get on with it, the institution only intervening at the end of the course to coordinate the final assessment process. Historically, this dynamic has divided institutional staff into the two camps of teachers and administrators. e-Learning places more complex demands on the teacher and the institution and tends to blur the line between the two camps. These roles include the:

• development of online teaching resources, some involving complex multimedia programmes and models;

- management of a learning and teaching discourse which engages the teacher and students;
- assessment of students' work;
- management of a LMS;
- management of an institutional network to support e-learning;
- · training and support of online teachers and developers;
- support for students in maintaining connectivity with online services.

Broadly speaking, institutions need to choose between two ways of allocating these roles. The first approach, and one advocated by much of the literature on e-learning, favours a team approach to the matter. Online courses are developed by a team, comprising variously a subject expert, a learning materials specialist, a web development specialist and perhaps someone to manage and coordinate their various efforts. The teaching and assessment of the course itself could continue to utilise the subject expert, or it might employ a second team of contracted markers and tutors. This is a highly successful model, particularly suited to courses with annual enrolments in the hundreds and higher.

The second approach, and one employed far more commonly in New Zealand institutions, is for the individual teacher to assume most of the previously mentioned roles of subject expert, instructional designer, web developer, project coordinator, tutor and assessor but to be assisted in some of these tasks by occasional training and guidance from others within the institution.

The advantage of the first approach is that it should ensure a universally high quality of course materials and a well-planned and timely delivery of service. Its most obvious disadvantage is its cost and the need to invest much of this expense before the first student is even enrolled. Another less obvious drawback of this model is that it is not a familiar one for the typical tertiary teacher, and teachers will often resent the fact that they are required to relinquish their control of course development to a team process.

The advantage of the second approach is that the teacher retains strong ownership of every aspect of planning, developing, teaching and assessing the course. It is also likely to be a good deal cheaper and more expeditious than a team approach. On the other hand, it places new and unfamiliar demands on the average teacher and many find it very challenging. The quality of the online course is also likely to be more variable compared with a team approach to production.

So, the first question is where an institution will seek to place itself on some sort of continuum between expecting the teacher to carry the entire burden of course development and assigning all such tasks to a full production team. The next question is how the institution provides the other roles identified above, specifically

network provision, management of the LMS, the Content Management System (CMS), training and support for online teachers, and connectivity support for students.

Most institutions will want to assign the first two roles to their institutional IT section. There are major issues of network security and risk management that institutions may not want to be dispersed more widely across the institution, not to mention the arcane demands of these activities. For slightly different reasons, most institutions will want to provide some sort of central helpdesk to provide technical support for online students. Few teaching staff will be able to provide effective and timely assistance to students phoning in about connectivity and registration problems and even fewer will be happy to be asked. Finally, the institution needs to decide how much training and support it provides to teachers in the development and delivery of their courses and where this support should be located. Some institutions opt to base any such support in a specialist central support unit. Others choose to locate this kind of expertise across the major teaching divisions of the institution.

## 3.2. Where are decisions made about what will be taught and how it will be taught?

The previous question had to do with the various tasks that need to be carried out in order to deliver a programme involving e-learning. It was suggested that institutional responses to this challenge fall along a rough continuum from an integrated production team approach at one end, where a group of specialists is brought together to develop a set of e-learning resources, through to a more dispersed model where individual teachers accept primary responsible for developing and teaching their e-courses but are able to draw on a range of central services to assist them in their efforts.

This next question raises the related issue of who in the organisation makes the decision about what courses will employ e-learning technology and what sort of e-learning services they will offer. What is the locus of decision-making about what gets taught in this medium? The answer to this second set of questions will fall along a similar continuum to the last one: from decisions made at a central institutional level right through to decisions made on a course-by-course basis by individual teachers.

This question about the locus of decision-making for what gets taught by e-learning, and how it is taught, is one of the most critical issues in this field. Commonly, initial decisions about e-learning delivery are made on a highly dispersed basis by individual teachers and programme leaders. They are driven by enthusiasm and market opportunity. Heads of department, deans and leadership teams often only become involved in these matters as the number and range of courses grows along with the servicing demands and costs associated with them. Institutions need to review this question of locus of decision-making at an early stage in this development. Generally, key questions about what gets taught by e-learning and how it is taught should only be asked at the programme leadership level and above. Further, such decisions should apply on a programme-wide basis rather than individually by course. This proposition requires some justification.

From the students' perspective, they should be able to expect some continuity of service across their experience of a programme or qualification. If they are expected to use a given LMS in one course and learn to employ a certain set of online study and communication skills during that course, they will have a reasonable expectation that their experience will be similar in subsequent courses.

From an institutional perspective, it is unrealistic for an organisation to support a range of different LMS, service standards and network requirements in its provision of e-learning. Most institutions should come to the view fairly early that decisions about e-learning scope and servicing should be made at least at the programme level and on behalf of the entire programme. Most positively, this will mean that every course in a given programme will subscribe to a similar commitment to online services and standards. Less positively, some enthusiastic teachers may need to be discouraged from unilaterally committing to a challenging level of e-learning in their courses.

To a greater or lesser degree, all the universities represented among the case studies tend to leave the decisions about the use of e-learning to the individual teachers. Whitireia Regional Polytechnic provides an example of an institution deciding as a matter of policy that decisions about utilising e-learning will be made on a programme basis and that the institution's support services will be targeted at the programmes and programme teams rather than individual courses and teachers. The Open Polytechnic is an example of a highly centralised corporate approach to managing e-learning. All decisions about e-learning are made by the senior executive team on the basis of thorough business plans prepared on a programme-by-programme basis. It is the senior executive team that is driving the uptake of e-learning at Otago Polytechnic as well, though here there is greater use of targeted central funding to assist programme teams in making the change.

## 3.3. How is leadership exercised over e-learning at an institutional level?

Many commentators identify the presence, or absence of strong institutional leadership as a critical factor in the successful uptake of e-learning. A failure of leadership might stem from a lack of appreciation of the importance of this development. Just as commonly, the failure may arise from inappropriate reporting relationships. The temptation is to view e-learning as primarily a technological issue and to assign responsibility for its growth and management to the IT division of the institution. In fact, technology is simply an enabler for a teaching process. For this reason leadership for e-learning needs to fall within the academic management line. It makes little sense to plan for e-learning as something separate from the institution's mainstream processes for planning and delivering every other mode of teaching and learning. The team responsible for leading an institution's teaching programme, for deciding what gets taught, how it gets taught and how well it gets taught, also needs to be responsible for managing this important medium of teaching and learning.

This will pose a challenge for most institutions. While it is important for senior academic leaders to accept responsibility for the direction and development of elearning, it is equally important that the contribution of IT and other administrative services are coordinated with a common purpose in mind. This is where it becomes vital that the institution's strategic documents give prominence to the place of e-learning and the contribution that all divisions of the institution will need to play in its development and management.

Some institutional leaders seek to resolve this problem by escalating the matter to a responsibility shared by the senior leadership team. Another option is to appoint a member of the senior team as 'champion' of the institution's e-learning strategy, assigning that individual some strategic targets, drawing together the necessary managers into a standing project team, and then requiring regular progress reports to come back to the leadership team. In either case, the aim is to ensure that all relevant managers are made accountable for the strategic targets that have been set for e-learning.

## 3.4. What is the role of middle managers (deans, heads of department, programme leaders) in e-learning?

There is a continuing debate among e-learning professionals and policy-makers about the reasons for the slow take-up of e-learning by some tertiary institutions. This is blamed variously on poor infrastructure, a lack of national policy, weak institutional strategy and leadership, and inadequate professional development of teachers. Arguably, a renewed focus on the responsibility of academic middle managers for the work of their teacher colleagues would be every bit as effective.

The most effective e-learning programmes tend to occur where a whole programme team makes a commitment to develop and deliver their courses to a shared set of guidelines on service and standards. This kind of collective commitment generally only comes about when team leaders understand that their core responsibility is to exercise leadership over the work of their team, which is teaching. In spite of this fairly obvious fact, we continue to see the issue of uptake as primarily one of personal choice by individual teachers. Working from this rather dubious premise, we assume that the best way to improve uptake is to focus our professional development efforts on these individual teachers. Institutional leaders should review and highlight

the role they expect these academic middle managers to play in e-learning. If these expectations are very modest, leaders should not be surprised if their middle managers do not see it as a significant responsibility of their role.

The case studies demonstrate a variety of organisational arrangements for supporting e-learning. The University of Auckland has brought its e-learning support unit into a larger aggregation, comprising all the teaching and student support units. Universal College of Learning (UCOL) has recognised the central role of the Library in knowledge management and is locating its e-learning support services within that unit. The AUT University case is an interesting example of a senior manager seeking to exercise strategic leadership over his institution's teaching and learning activities, including e-learning. Northland Institute of Technology (NorthTec) provides an example of this leadership being driven strongly by the Chief Executive. Bay of Plenty Polytechnic and Manukau Institute of Technology (MIT) are instances of strong leadership being exercised at the e-learning support unit level.

### 4. Resourcing

### 4.1. How should e-learning be resourced within the institution?

This is one of the most critical and also the most difficult management challenge concerning e-learning. Typically, institutions begin their foray into e-learning in a small-scale, experimental way. A unit or individual expresses enthusiasm to offer their programme or course using this medium. They are permitted to run some kind of pilot programme and they either do so under their own resources or else the institution finds a small amount of funding to get the project started. At this early stage, it is unlikely that much consideration will be given to how this activity might be funded in the long term and at a much larger scale.

The pilot is likely to be a critical success. The original enthusiasts remain enthusiastic, students in the pilot programme seem to survive, and other programme groups across the institution start to show an interest in doing something similar. At the same time, a number of 'gaps' in service and support begin to be identified. Teachers start to press for the purchase of a fully functional LMS for the institution and for support in developing online teaching resources. Students start to complain about difficulties they face in establishing connectivity with the e-learning systems. The IT section begins to seek more resources for new servers, for staff to manage the new activity and even to upgrade the campus network services to accommodate the extra digital traffic. Auxiliary services, such as the library, student learning services and enrolment services, start to point out the difficulties they face in delivering their services to e-learners. At about this point, institutions need to make a choice as to how they intend to resource, plan and manage their expanding use of this mode. The first option is to 'ring fence' the resourcing and management of e-learning and treat it as a centrally planned, centrally resourced and largely stand-alone stream of activity and funding. Under this approach, institutions will commonly establish a centrally resourced and directed e-learning unit. This unit will be charged with commissioning, developing and possibly even delivering e-learning programmes on behalf of the institution. The unit will be given an allocation which it uses to hire a production team and then, perhaps under the guidance of some sort of advisory board or management reporting line, identifies a few programmes to convert to e-learning. It will then collaborate with the teachers from the identified programmes in the development of the teaching materials and support services.

There are several strengths to this approach:

- The institution is able to target its efforts to a few key programmes that will best serve its larger strategic interests.
- Development will be relatively rapid with a well-planned concentration of resources and effort to get the new programmes in place according to schedule.
- High standards of production, presentation and support can be maintained.
- All necessary services can be purchased and coordinated to ensure the success of the programme.
- Costs can be tracked and contained within allocated budgets.

On the other hand, the approach has some serious limitations. In recent years, most tertiary institutions will have moved to a system of devolved funding and accountability. Teaching units are funded largely on the basis of the revenue they generate through student fees, government fee subsidies, research and commercial activity income. They are expected to manage their activities within that income. Institutional overheads are resourced either by an initial 'top slicing' of revenue or through some form of 'contribution' levied on each income-generating teaching and research unit. This is a robust and demanding model that has forced an unprecedented level of accountability on individual teaching units. Unit heads are now forced to make constant choices about programme viability and staffing requirements whereas, under earlier regimes of central institutional funding, these choices were made at a more senior level. Operating under these conditions, programme leaders will be alert to any proposal by the centre to fund a new activity by top-slicing some of their income. Any funding model that resources one stream of teaching from a top-sliced central budget but which continues to expect the teaching units to resource their other modes of delivery from their allocated revenue is bound to cause distortions in perception and behaviour.

Another disadvantage of this model is that it is unlikely to be self-perpetuating or selffunding. While the institutional leadership may believe that the activity should become self-funding after the initial injection of central start-up funding, the experience is likely to be otherwise. The history of such production units attempting to charge teaching units for their services is not an encouraging one. Once the central funding stops, such units tend to disappear quite quickly. In their place, individual teaching units may be reluctant to budget for the development of e-learning from already hard-pressed budgets, particularly as they have recently enjoyed its provision at no direct cost to themselves.

The other option is to challenge teaching units to meet most of the development and servicing costs of e-learning from their regular student-generated revenue while limiting the use of top-sliced funding to key network services, connectivity support, and training and advice for teaching staff.

The advantage of this second approach is that teaching units will be encouraged to view the development of e-learning as just part of their wider commitment to teaching. Decisions about e-learning will be carefully assessed against other alternative delivery modes and choices will be made on both educational and economic grounds. This suggests that progress in this direction will be more enduring than any commitments made on the basis of opportunistic funding. This model of funding will mean that teachers and teaching teams will be making most of the key decisions about how and what they deliver by e-learning. They are also likely to be more directly involved in planning and developing courseware. This may encourage a greater sense of ownership of the courseware and of the mode by teachers than the alternative approach. Finally, this approach will allow a more flexible approach to the evolution of blended learning across the institution where such developments are not constrained by the existence of mode-based funding silos.

Unfortunately, a devolved model of resourcing has some serious limitations as well:

- Uptake across the institution is likely to be slow and uneven as units vary in their investment in support and encouragement for this mode.
- The quality of courseware and support for e-learning will also be variable and generally lower than what might be achieved by the former approach.
- Some of the developments will be idiosyncratic as individual teachers pursue particular systems and functionality.
- Developments in e-learning will be difficult to monitor and even harder to standardise.

As with most such dilemmas and choices facing managers in this field, the answer probably lies somewhere between the two alternatives as described. Institutions may need to fund a few initial programmes to explore what is possible, to develop some exemplary courses and to develop and test a few support systems. However, they need to recognise that this will not be an enduring or scalable funding model, and

that they need to challenge teaching units to take early and major responsibility for planning, resourcing and manning the development and delivery of their online courses. To maintain the momentum, they need to have a realistic institutional plan for e-learning, to develop a clear set of delivery and service standards and give strong central support. This support will include network services, system hosting and security, connectivity support for students, and continuing training and advice for teachers.

The current reforms in the resourcing of tertiary education in New Zealand may prompt institutional leaders to reconsider the methods they use to resource elearning. Public funding of tertiary education will now be driven by institutional plans and the government's commitment to invest in these plans. Numbers of student enrolments will no longer be the sole driver for government funding of tuition. Institutions are being required to indicate in their plans, not only which programmes they intend to offer and to how many students, but also how they propose to teach these students. Funding will be allocated with the expectation that the programmes will be delivered in accordance with negotiated plans. This is likely to mean that the internal allocation of resources within tertiary institutions will need to conform closely and transparently to the approved Investment Plans. Institutions will not be able to continue to fund their teaching units on the basis of EFTS when the expectations of the public funder are for targeted delivery of particular programmes to agreed numbers of students. It is likely that institutions will be encouraged to be more explicit about their plans for e-learning in their bids for investment funding. This may well encourage both institutions and funders to favour a more targeted, centrally supported process for managing, funding, producing and even delivering e-learning.

### 4.2. What will it cost?

The answer to this question is either very complicated or fairly simple and it tends to depend on the resourcing model employed. Much of the expert advice on costing elearning tends to come from people associated with large-scale, dedicated distance education institutions. It reflects the models of central planning and resourcing typical of such institutions, and the high production and service standards that are possible given their scale of operation. They will argue that the development of e-learning programmes requires a production team approach (see above), that the e-learning programmes should take advantage of the full range of delivery and communication functionality that is available through modern LMS, and that the institution needs to provide an equally rich suite of online student administration services (see following section). This sort of analysis will generally advise that the development costs of an e-learning programme are far higher than for conventional classroom teaching and somewhat higher than for paper-based correspondence study. Further, they will suggest that the marginal cost of each student enrolment is higher than for correspondence study (because of the greater demands on teachers from online communication with students) which means that the break-even enrolment level for

any course will be similarly higher than for either face-to-face or correspondence delivery. In other words, e-learning will be more expensive but better than other modes of delivery and only the largest institutions can expect to achieve any economies of scale.

There is an alternative view that tends to be demonstrated, at least implicitly, by institutions adopting a devolved model of funding for e-learning. In a perfect model of such a system, an e-learning course will, by definition, be the most cost-effective delivery stream for its targeted market. Otherwise the unit would have chosen a more cost-effective way of reaching that market! This may appear to be a smoke-and-mirrors statement but it is borne out in practice. Where a teaching unit is resourced largely on its student revenue and where it is given a measure of autonomy as to how it delivers that teaching, it will seek a delivery mode that is most cost-effective given the characteristics of its student cohort and the demands of teaching the subject. The choice of mode will be influenced by imposed standards of course and by a professional desire to improve the quality of teaching, but an overriding criterion will be the funding available to provide the service.

Contrary to the advice of the e-learning experts about costs, there are dozens of institutions across New Zealand that are delivering e-learning programmes at well below these suggested minimum costs. They do so by building their courses within their available resources, rather than aspiring to offer the most fully functional set of teaching services. Regular teaching staff develop their online teaching resources with only light-handed assistance from instructional developers. They forego many of the more sophisticated functions and utilities offered by their LMS and they limit their online correspondence with students to the time they have available. Most importantly, they try to avoid simply adding costs as they add value to their teaching efforts and look for ways in which e-learning allows them to economise on some other teaching activities. In short, teaching units learn to live within their means. If an e-learning programme begins to consume a disproportionate amount of unit resources, sooner or later funding pressures will force some form of retrenchment or reallocation of resources. And institutional and external guality assurance processes should ensure that, by and large, e-learning courses meet reasonable standards of delivery and support.

The aspect of resourcing that needs closest attention in terms of managing costs are those top-sliced activities that are the responsibility of central units and that fall outside the direct control of revenue-funded teaching units. The upgrading of network services to accommodate e-teaching and e-learning; the purchase and management of an LMS and the hosting of e-courses; the delivery of some form of helpdesk for students; and the development of a training and instructional development capability are all instances of significant costs that are incurred explicitly to support e-learning. To what extent can these costs be offset against savings in classroom and campus for conventional teaching methods? More difficult to weigh in

this calculus are the development of other online services that are of particular value to distance students and others studying principally online – such as online library access and online student administration services – but which are also of considerable value to students studying principally in a classroom environment.

The simple answer to the initial question then is this: given a devolved model of funding and accountability, and careful management of central support services, most institutions should be able to afford to develop e-learning services where they are most needed.

### 4.3. No, what will it really cost?

In spite of the preceding discussion, institutional leaders will want some indication of what e-learning is likely to cost them. The following analysis, drawing on the experience of a large tertiary institution, may be of some help. Each institution will have its own accounting regime in terms of both capital and operational costs. Institutions will also differ both in size and the extent to which they engage in e-learning. For this reason, only general statements can be made about costs. Instead, the allocations of costs will be expressed as percentages and proportions rather than dollar figures.

Broadly, there are four areas for consideration. First, the cost of creating an IT environment in which any LMS might operate, including maintaining that system when functional. Second, suitable software that meets the institution's needs must be acquired. Third, experienced staff need to be hired or redeployed to provide pedagogical support to those taking on e-learning. Fourth, staff and student support personnel must be available to those who need it.

### Table: Proportional costs of e-learning in a large New Zealand tertiary institution

Activity	Fractional cost
Information Technology (central services)	8.2% of total cost
Staff to maintain servers and perform upgrades. This cost does NOT include helpdesk staff time.	40% (half a full IT specialist salary)
System server leases	11%
Supplementary servers, load balancers etc	7%
LMS server	30%
CMS server	8%
	100
Flexible learning/staff development	59.7% of total cost
HR costs	81

Toophing support polarico	628/
	02%
Admin and LMS support salaries	38%
	100
Internal charges	2.2% of total cost
Internet	55%
Print/copy	9.7%
Local user charges	32%
Misc	3.3%
	100
Administrative expenses	3.7% of total cost
Equipment	3%
Equipment lease	23%
Staff development/conferences	25%
Travel	27%
Accommodation	9%
ACC/Long Service/Misc stationery etc	13%
	100
	100
Blackboard infrastructure	100 1.8% of total cost
Blackboard infrastructure Internet connections	100 <b>1.8% of total cost</b> 62%
Blackboard infrastructure Internet connections User charges	100         1.8% of total cost         62%         38%
Blackboard infrastructure Internet connections User charges	100         1.8% of total cost         62%         38%         100
Blackboard infrastructure         Internet connections         User charges         Licences/Contractors	100         1.8% of total cost         62%         38%         100         24.6% of total cost
Blackboard infrastructure         Internet connections         User charges         Licences/Contractors         Contractors	100         1.8% of total cost         62%         38%         100         24.6% of total cost         0.6%
Blackboard infrastructure         Internet connections         User charges         Licences/Contractors         Contractors         Equip rental	100         1.8% of total cost         62%         38%         100         24.6% of total cost         0.6%         0.5%
Blackboard infrastructure         Internet connections         User charges         Licences/Contractors         Contractors         Equip rental         Licences (Commercial LMS/CMS)	100         1.8% of total cost         62%         38%         100         24.6% of total cost         0.6%         0.5%         98.9

These data make it clear that the bulk of the costs associated with e-learning are in staffing, almost 60%, and in licence costs, at 25%. The uncalculated cost is that of staff time in preparing e-learning materials or in modifying existing items.

### **Central services**

The central services cost is almost equally divided between server acquisition and lease costs, and salary costs maintenance and upgrade. There are other internal and external charges mandated by the system that are unavoidable and not reported in detail here. It would be fair comment that whatever LMS is operated by an institution,

the central service costs would arise if the institutions runs its IT system centrally. The salary position not only maintains the servers but also ensures that links are maintained to other institutional systems such as the Student Management System (SMS), library, student identification and security systems etc. This role is particularly important when any other student-related system in the institution is being modified or upgraded, or if a related system goes down because that role ensures the continuing integrity of the whole system. The position can be divided into two fractions of a half-time role to ensure that one person can support another in case of absence or illness.

### Flexible (e-learning)

In the instance quoted here, flexible and e-learning are located under the administrative wing of the staff development unit but overseen by a director of e-learning. The largest costs are those associated with flexible learning advisors who work with academic staff in faculties on transforming their learning and teaching using the LMS and other associated e-learning software. This team is supported by a smaller group of staff who provide expert advice to the helpdesk and to academic staff using high-end LMS/CMS strategies. They also manage software-related issues at the more complex end of the spectrum. They use the LMS software on test bed servers to trial new software before it is put onto development systems in the IT environment, prior to final release on the IT production servers. This team also uses the bulk of the funds attending conferences and meetings to ensure they have the most recent knowledge about flexible and e-learning, and sometimes present papers to academic meetings.

### Major software

The third major expense related to e-learning is the LMS software. The particular institution from which this data is drawn uses a commercial product. It is well supported and frequently improved by the vendor, hence the pro rata licence cost based on the number of institutional full-time enrolments. Some institutions use open-source software that is free to use. Experience so far suggests that experts have to be hired to make changes to the software to accommodate upgrades in related (e.g., ,student information systems). Similarly, the staff are used to modify and improve the product to maintain parity with similar products on the market. There is insufficient information at this time to indicate whether the additional staff costs to write new code in the open-source environment are more or less expensive than the licence costs for commercial software.

The institution in question found the following questions both useful and challenging:

• Are the proponents and champions for e-learning aware of the establishment costs?

- Is there a clear understanding of what costs are capital and what are operational?
- Is there a longer term (e.g., five-year) implementation plan showing all the downstream IT costs?
- Have the HR costs been fully examined in terms of direct staff appointments?
- Can existing staff be redeployed at no additional cost?
- Is there a plan to have start-up grants for academic staff to develop e-learning materials and strategies?
- What is the amortisation plan for capital costs?
- Are there plans to cater for a rapid escalation in student and staff users (e.g., additional servers and support)?
- Are there comprehensive and costed IT back-up plans in case of failure?

Massey University ("Devolution of Control") provides an example of an institution endeavouring to resource its e-learning development on a fully devolved funding model. Otago University and AUT University are examples of competitive grant systems delivering modest support for selected programmes. NorthTec and Otago Polytechnic are examples of larger-scale central investment in e-learning on a targeted basis.

### 5. Collaboration

### 5.1. Why collaborate?

There are several reasons why an institution might collaborate with another entity to support its e-learning programme. These would include:

 to gain access to specialist expertise, knowledge, systems, courseware, networks or hardware concerning e-learning that is owned by, or accessible to, the partner organisation(s);

This raises the important strategic question of where an institution strikes the balance between developing all the resources and systems required to support its e-learning programmes or contracting outside agencies to deliver some of these services. Where this balance is struck will depend on questions of size, history, strategic focus and organisational culture. Smaller institutions and those newer to e-learning may find it advantageous to contract out the supply of many of these services rather than make an expensive and long-term commitment to developing the whole array of services required to develop and deliver high-quality e-learning. An institution placing a strategic focus on e-learning might consider it desirable to develop more in-house capacity than one with a lesser commitment. An institution with a relatively

centralised approach to programme development may also find it easier to incorporate a suite of programmes and services developed by an outside agency rather than one with a more devolved and teacher-centric structure and culture.

Another approach that institutional leaders might usefully take would be to ask which of these services relate directly to our core business?

Another question is whether an institution plans to make short-term use of contracted services, buying time while it develops its in-house capability to deliver these services.

 to expand the visibility and market reach of an institution's teaching programme by collaborating with institutions offering complementary programmes;

Ideally, this is a powerful reason for collaborating with another institution. It is clearly advantageous if institutions can combine their individual specialty subjects to support a broad-based programme which is then offered to a large student market. The advantages are only achieved, however, if collaborating institutions continue to acknowledge the contribution of each party and are not tempted to duplicate the offerings of their partners. Over the past couple of decades, there have been a number of collaborations that have fallen apart as one or more partners have moved from a collaborative to a competitive stance.

• to widen the effective catchment of an institution by collaborating with an institution that can offer local support services to students in its region;

Most educational delivery modes require some form of local support for students. While an institution may be able to deliver its courseware to students online, it may have more difficulty providing other services – such as ongoing tuition, library support or examination facilities for example – by this medium. Most institutions will find it more cost-effective to provide these regionally based services through a network of collaborative arrangements with regional institutions and organisations rather than attempting to establish their own regional networks.

Institutions that are asked to provide these kinds of regional support services on behalf of another provider need to be satisfied that these arrangements are compatible with their own strategic objectives, that the full cost of these services is being met and that there is a reasonable level of reciprocity in such relationships.

 to achieve economies of scale by increasing the size of the student market and the institutions' combined capacity to meet this market; Developing, delivering and supporting quality e-learning is a capital-intensive activity. This may provide an incentive for institutions to collaborate to secure a larger combined student market for a programme than any of them could hope to achieve unilaterally. This begs the question of how the partners work together to deliver a combined programme, how they contribute to the costs and divide the revenue, and how they 'brand' the programme.

• to comply with an external policy, regulatory or funding requirement for such collaboration;

The policy and funding environment in force at any particular time will exercise a major influence over an institution's commitment to collaboration. During the era of exclusively EFTS-based funding, institutions were strongly encouraged to compete with one another for market share. Continued growth, both in numbers of students and breadth of programmes, was a powerful institutional imperative. The recent change of government policy, in favour of planned provision and targeted public investment in that provision, must act as an important driver in institutional attitudes towards collaboration. Hopefully, opportunities to collaborate will still be analysed against the four factors listed above. However, this analysis will need to be tempered by a recognition that government policy has now changed. Simply expanding student enrolments may not lead to increased revenue; some institutions - and ITPs in particular are being actively discouraged from enrolling students from outside their regional catchments; and increasingly, funding and government support will be conditional on a wider range of outcome and quality measures than are currently in force.

TANZ is a collaboration among six medium-sized regional polytechnics. Right from its outset, TANZ has seen greatest scope for collaboration among its member institutions in the planning, development and provision of e-learning programmes and services. Early success has been achieved in offering joint programmes in applied business; plans are underway for larger-scale collaborative offerings.

### 5.2. Why outsource e-learning services?

This question is not peculiar to e-learning. During the past two decades or so, as the drives for efficiency and effectiveness have heightened, managers of tertiary institutions have asked it of many of their services. Campus security, catering, student accommodation, transport, grounds maintenance and book supply are just a few of the more obvious candidates for supply through commercial contracts. In these cases, judgements have usually been made on the basis of non-core business activities and efficiency. Institutions then endeavour to ensure continuity and quality of service provision through a process of vigilant contract management.

The growing complexity of tertiary education has encouraged institutions to expand this process of outsourcing into key support systems such as student, programme and IT management systems. Increasingly, institutions employ commercial agencies to assist with staff recruitment, design and corporate branding, and aspects of staff development. A similar, growing complexity in the delivery of core teaching services has now encouraged many institutions to outsource some aspects of this work. There are now commercial agencies ready to provide a full array of services to support elearning and other media-intensive teaching modes. To quote the list of services available from one leading New Zealand company, these could include any or all of the following:

- professional development;
- instructional design;
- courseware development;
- quality assurance;
- specialist technology;
- hosting and intellectual property security;
- distribution and support;
- marketing and media.

Why would an institution opt to contract in any of these services from a commercial agency rather than develop this capacity in-house? The reasons will be fairly similar to those applying to a decision to collaborate with another provider or group of providers:

 Contracting with an outside agency may allow an institution to embark on elearning in a matter of months and much earlier than would be possible if it were to build its own capacity to deliver these services. An experienced commercial agency should be in a position to deliver a specified level of service and according to a contracted timetable.

The key question institutional leaders need to resolve fairly early in this process is how they envisage this contractual relationship will change over the coming years. Do they intend to continue to contract this same level of service in the years ahead or do they plan to develop some or all of these services on an in-house basis in the future? A commercial agency should be able to operate under either scenario but it will be in the interests of both parties to clarify this question at the time the original contract is negotiated.

• Contracting with an outside agency may allow an institution to gain access to expensive and complex systems, and to highly specialised expertise that it

would find difficulty in developing or resourcing itself either immediately or even over the next few years.

e-Learning involves a fast-developing set of applications that employs an even faster developing array of technology. Institutions wishing to stay in front of this technology will find it necessary to invest heavily in technology upgrades and specialist recruitment. This challenge may be hard to meet in the face of the competing demands for funding within a tertiary institution. Depending on the scale of operation that is envisaged, it will often make better economic and strategic sense for an institution to develop an ongoing commercial relationship with an agency that is solely committed to this challenge.

The argument for out-sourcing will be particularly strong where the service is especially capital-intensive or the institution's use of the service is relatively infrequent, such as the development of high-end multimedia courseware. The argument may be somewhat weaker where the contracted service could be seen to be a part of core business for a teaching institution, such as interacting with students in either a teaching or a pastoral capacity.

• Contracting with an outside agency may allow an institution to plan, resource and manage its commitment to e-learning with more confidence than would a commitment to a home-grown solution.

A contract with an outside agency will specify the service to be provided, the quality to be achieved, the delivery deadlines and the price as well as addressing contingencies that might affect any aspect of the contracted deliverables. The development can therefore be planned for and budgeted with a reasonable level of confidence. The contracting agency will be highly motivated to meet its contracted obligations and the institution should be able to manage its risk with some confidence.

 Contracting out can sometimes be the best way of addressing a new market opportunity that falls outside the normal business or operating methods of existing teaching units. It is interesting to note that some of the more successful contracting ventures of New Zealand tertiary institutions have been instances of this kind. This happens where an institution recognises that there is a much larger market for some aspects of its programmes or expertise but that existing structures of academic and programme management don't lend themselves readily to expanding to meet this market. A contractual relationship with an outside agency, coupled perhaps with a dedicated inhouse business unit, can sometimes allow the institution to take advantage of that market opportunity without distorting or over-extending the work of the core teaching units.

Institutional leaders should be conscious of the limitations or drawbacks of outsourcing:

- Cost will be a consideration though probably not the major one. An agency
  offering high-end development and support services for e-learning will be
  employing staff at generally a higher rate of remuneration than the institution
  would to deliver a similar service. The agency will be carrying a significant
  commercial risk and its fee structure will reflect this. These factors may
  suggest that institutions may want to use such agencies selectively to deliver
  those services that they are currently unable to provide or to assist them in the
  initial phases of a commitment to e-learning.
- There is a danger that a client institution will become locked into a contractual relationship that over time may become less appropriate or affordable. The contract may specify, for instance, that all learning resources are produced using the contractor's proprietary software or hardware. This is likely to make it both difficult and expensive for the client to abandon the relationship even though more appropriate solutions may be available in the market over the course of time.
- Outsourcing a service is likely to reduce the need or the motivation for the client to develop its own capacity to provide this service unless this development is clearly anticipated in the contractual agreement and in the institution's ongoing planning and investment in this area.
- A close and exclusive contractual relationship with an outside contractor may make it difficult for the institution to consider new relationships and new possibilities in its use of e-learning technology.

For a number of years, Waikato Institute of Technology (Wintec) has contracted Intuto to deliver a range of e-learning services and products on its behalf. The relationship allowed Wintec to take advantage of a market opening that it would not have been able to service on its own. It is a commercial relationship that undergoes constant change as the nature of the service mix changes.

### 6. Staff development, instructional design and course development

### 6.1. What sort of expertise and training do teachers need for elearning?

This begs the more fundamental question of what sort of pedagogical skill and knowledge do teachers need for any form of teaching at a tertiary level. There is a range of views on this from those who believe that tertiary teachers need professional preparation at least equivalent to that provided for graduates wishing to enter secondary school teaching (that is, a full-year equivalent of training in addition to their qualification in their teaching subject) to those who believe that a wellqualified subject specialist will pick up the essentials of teaching without a great deal of explicit instruction in the craft. Most parts of the tertiary sector fall somewhere between these extremes and favour a combination of point-of-entry and continuing
training for tertiary teachers. Typically, this training is provided by in-house staff development units, though there are several approved qualifications available of varying duration.

While not questioning the value of any of these programmes, it is worth noting that the international research evidence for the value of such training – in terms of any measurable impact on student learning – is hard to find. More significantly, the research suggests some other forms of training and support that are no less valuable than formal training in pedagogy. These include work-based training where the unit leader or an outside agent takes an active role in developing the skills and competence of all staff during the course of their regular activities; mentoring, where colleagues work closely with another teacher especially during their early years on the job; and using the systematic feedback that most institutions gather from students about their course experience in regular performance discussions between supervisors and teachers. These are all strategies that institutions can employ to improve the quality of their teaching.

If we are to look at the attributes of effective online teaching and learning, we would find that most writers on the subject suggest they are nearly identical to those for conventional modes of teaching. Marshall (2005-8), for instance, draws on the familiar "seven principles for good practice in undergraduate education", first articulated by Chickering and Gamsun (1987) several years before the existence of the Internet. These principles are:

- encouraging contact between students and teachers;
- developing reciprocity and cooperation among students;
- encouraging active learning;
- giving prompt feedback;
- emphasising time on task;
- communicating high expectations;
- respecting diverse talents and ways of learning.

This is not to minimise the importance of good teaching practice in e-learning, simply to point out that the principles of good teaching appear to be the same whatever the study mode.

If these generic teaching skills and knowledge can be taken for granted, or at least addressed as part of the normal preparation programme for any tertiary-level teacher, what are the distinctive competencies that e-learning is likely to require of teachers? Most analyses suggest a fairly technical set of skills rather than any new and challenging pedagogic principles and processes. These include:

- working with members of a production team (where this is the model in operation – see above) to create online learning resources;
- instructional design skills sufficient to the task of developing a set of online teaching resources (where a production team approach is not in place);
- a level of computer literacy adequate to the task of developing and/or managing a programme delivered via a LMS;
- knowledge of external electronic resources;
- managing email and other electronic discussions both synchronous and asynchronous;
- working with students at a distance.

(after Butterfield et al, 1999, p.15)

With some exceptions, these are technical skills and knowledge that can be acquired fairly rapidly. Many of them will be particular to the approach to e-learning that is being used in a given programme rather that applying equally well to any mix of approaches. Arguably, many of these skills would be acquired most readily through mentoring relationships as teachers developed their first online course.

## 6.2. Does your institution have the capacity to train its teaching staff to develop and teach with e-learning media?

Strategically, almost all TEOs have some form of staff development. The character of the development remains somewhat contested according to the level of the institution. For example, some larger units focus on exploring staff development from an intellectual perspective, while others are more service-oriented. In general, the aim of the units is to provide staff with the necessary knowledge and skills to be able to perform an efficient and effective teaching function in pursuit of the institution's goals. Many in the academic development community would argue that progress is impeded by the absence of a qualifications framework for staff development indicating a required, minimum teaching performance standard for the sector.

In principle, it would be expected that staff development units are service bodies providing support to all institutional staff. On the academic side, working with staff to clarify learning objectives, providing advice on a variety of teaching strategies, considering and advising about assessment and evaluation and often monitoring and advising on the role of extant or emerging technologies as they might affect the academic purpose of the institution. Some university-based staff development units conduct research into different aspects of tertiary learning and teaching. On the nonacademic side, issues of competence and skills, human resources management and related matters sometimes engage staff development units. The strategic issue for e-learning becomes the extent to which the personnel in the staff development unit have the skills and knowledge necessary to up-skill teaching staff in the particular requirements of e-learning. Some institutions find themselves in a position to hire in the required personnel while others may choose to rely on the skills and knowledge of existing staff. Providing assistance to staff to use e- learning strategies involves capacity in the following areas:

- revising and redesigning curriculum philosophies, design and practices;
- reconceptualising teaching strategies where e-learning is to be involved;
- reconsidering assessment strategies and timing to make use of digital technologies and secure student identification systems; and
- choosing the most appropriate technologies to enhance the teaching strategies.

It is assumed that staff development units will be a limited institutional resource. Such units may need to identify strategies to ensure that access to them is based on a rational assessment of requests, perhaps linked to the institutional strategic direction, especially if it involves a move towards blended or e-learning. It is at this level that the strategic role of staff development units becomes important because they are often the conduit between the institutional strategic directional statements and the actual practices used in faculties, schools and by individual academics. Staff development units supportive of, competent in and knowledgeable about e-learning are more likely to achieve the institutional e-learning goals than those that do not have those characteristics.

#### 6.3. What sort of IT support will teachers need?

Most institutions recognise that teaching staff will require at least a basic training in any online LMS. This will commonly take the form of short training courses where teachers are brought together into a computer lab and stepped through the basic functions of the LMS by a trainer. The latter is likely to come from the unit responsible for managing the LMS – either the academic development/staff training section or sometimes the IT section. Many institutions will place some requirement on staff to undertake this kind of training before they embark on their online teaching.

A second form of support will be the appointment of IT support people at a 'local' level. Depending on the size of the institution, these appointments might be made at a faculty or even programme level in larger institutions or perhaps at a campus level in smaller institutions. They will be available to assist staff in maintaining and managing their online programmes and helping them to resolve technical difficulties as they occur. Some of these 'local' appointments combine the IT support role with an instructional development role. This is a particularly valuable combination where it can be achieved as teaching staff can get immediate, comprehensive assistance, not just with their technical difficulties but as they plan and develop their online courses in the first place.

A third form of support will likely come from the IT section itself by way of a helpdesk service. This is an indispensable service in terms of ensuring that teachers are able to operate within a secure, network environment, but it is not likely to be able to offer the level of support and customer service of the 'local' support person. Where possible, an institution should maintain both levels of support.

Two other support resources should also be considered. The first is online training. Most software packages come with fairly comprehensive online training programmes. Institutions need to be aware of these packages and encourage teaching staff to use them at least as a first response to a problem. The second involves a teacher's colleagues. Staff in a department or faculty are likely to be at different levels of skill and experience in e-learning. Most should not mind offering occasional advice and assistance to help a colleague master a particular skill or technique in designing or managing an e-learning course.

One final observation on the subject of IT support needs to be made. Teachers will need more than an elementary familiarity with computers before they can be expected to teach using this medium. In the modern environment, we tend to assume that familiarity with the Internet, with email and with common office software such as spreadsheets, PowerPoint and word-processing is almost universal. In many educational communities, this assumption may be an unrealistic one. If teachers are not fairly sophisticated in their use of email, they are likely to have difficulty supporting an online discussion group process. If they are not equally experienced in their use of word-processing, they will have similar difficulty building a set of resource materials within an LMS. If they don't really understand the principles of file management, they will likely get themselves in a hopeless muddle. Worse still, if they do not have word-processing skills, teaching in a web-based course will be a nightmare for all concerned. These are all skills that can be learned but probably not in the very short term. Where an institution is drawing on a group of tutors who do not come with a long tradition of computer-based experience, they need to be careful about imposing unrealistic expectations for their use of e-learning.

## 6.4. What sort of guidelines should influence the development and delivery of courses taught or supported by e-learning?

This is a huge and complex question. It begs a number of related questions. For example, what is the intended student market? What is the intended mix of teaching processes? What are the learning objectives? What are our constraints in terms of resources and infrastructure? The answers to these latter questions are likely to vary across the divisions and programmes of the institution. However, this variety of responses should not discourage an institution from tackling the issue.

The question of what is "fit for purpose", where teaching and learning are being transformed, carries with it a baseline assumption that the standard face-to-face teaching model is the most fit for achieving the learning outcomes sought by TEOs. It is historically the most common and is based on the paradigm of teaching involving the co-location in space and time of a group of students, a teacher and appropriate resources. Quality measures are those agreed to by the relevant Quality Assurance body such as the Institutes of Technology and Polytechnics Quality (ITPQ)or the Committee on University Academic Programmes (CUAP). Both bodies use proxies as measures of quality including, for example, number of staff with certain levels of qualification, student-teacher ratio and books held in the library etc. An institution might ask itself if it wishes to adopt a separate set of quality measures for e-learning, as is and has been done in the distance education context, or use those designed for the face-to-face teaching context.

Using technologies for teaching suggests that institutional quality assurance models might adopt different pathways. The first is to assure the quality of the work being done in the new way as a separate entity and apply standards particular to the model. This strategy might leave the dominant paradigm of teaching unexamined because it tends to assure inputs over outcomes. A number of institutions use a system of benchmarks to compare themselves either against the published benchmark standard or against the performance of another institution having similar characteristics, staff and student bodies or goals and aspirations. In New Zealand, there are three benchmarks regimes that institutions might consider.

As mentioned above, the New Zealand e-Learning Guidelines are an online resource enabling a range of questions to be posed and answered with extensive references to current literature. The e-Learning guidelines are 'wiki' based and allow additions to be made on a continuous basis to ensure that current literature practice and thinking are maintained, whether from New Zealand or elsewhere (elg.massey.ac.nz).

Another New Zealand-based benchmark is the e-Learning Maturity Model (eMM). Capability is perhaps the most important concept incorporated in the eMM. Capability, in the context of this model, refers to the ability of an institution to ensure that e-learning design, development and deployment is meeting the needs of the students, staff and institution. Critically, capability includes the ability of an institution to sustain e-learning delivery and the support of learning and teaching as demand grows and staff change. Given the large investments made in e-learning both by students and institutions, it is essential that delivery be robust and reliable, and able to cope with changes in the personnel involved, growth in the number of students, changes in technology requirements and skills, as well as the increasingly challenging digital communications environment. The assessment of capability in a complex area such as e-learning is difficult. It necessarily involves reducing large amounts of detail into a broader overview that supports management decisionmaking and strategic planning. Inevitably, this approach will fail to single out the subtle nuances and innovative work of individuals that motivate teaching staff to work on individual projects. Institutions and individuals will always have the ability to choose to invest time and other discretionary resources in innovative, unique opportunities.

In particular the eMM benchmarks examine the following areas of performance:

- learning;
- development;
- co-ordination and support;
- evaluation;
- organisation.

Each topic area is further subdivided into many other mappable subsets.

Further information about the eMM may be found at the following site: <a href="http://www.utdc.vuw.ac.nz/research/emm/">http://www.utdc.vuw.ac.nz/research/emm/</a>

In the USA, the National Education Association (the USA's largest professional association of higher education faculty) and Blackboard Inc (a widely used platform provider for online education) are interested in exploring benchmarks and their implications. They asked the Institute for Higher Education Policy (IHEP) to attempt to validate benchmarks published by various entities, with specific attention to Internet-based distance education.

This study is designed to ascertain the *extent to which the benchmarks are actually incorporated* in the policies, procedures and practices of colleges and universities that are distance education leaders. In addition, this study seeks to determine *how important* these benchmarks are to the institutions' faculty, administrators and students.

IHEP first reviewed all existing principles, guidelines and benchmarks that address best practices in distributed learning and combined them into a list of 45. The researchers tested the efficacy of that list by asking academic staff, students and administrators (n=147) at six institutions about 1) to what extent is the benchmark true for the distance learning programme (s), and 2) how important is each benchmark to ensure quality?

The topic areas include:

- institutional support;
- course development;
- teaching and learning;

- course structure;
- student support;
- faculty support;
- evaluation and assessment.

For further information about this IHEP study see the following site: <a href="http://www.ihep.org/Publications/publications-detail.cfm?id=69">http://www.ihep.org/Publications/publications-detail.cfm?id=69</a>

In Australia, the Australasian Council on Open, Distance and e- Learning (ACODE) developed the following benchmarks. The purpose of the benchmarks is to support continuous quality improvement in e-learning. The approach reflects an enterprise perspective, integrating the key issue of pedagogy with institutional dimensions such as planning, staff development and infrastructure provision. The benchmarks have been developed for use at the enterprise level or by the organisational areas responsible for the provision of leadership and services in this area. They have been piloted in universities and independently reviewed.

Each benchmark area is discrete and can be used alone or in combination with others. Benchmarks can be used for self-assessment purposes in one or several areas, or as part of a collaborative benchmarking exercise.

The benchmarks cover the following eight separate topic areas and have been internationally reviewed:

- institution policy and governance for technology-supported learning and teaching;
- planning for, and quality improvement of, the integration of technologies for learning and teaching;
- information technology infrastructure to support learning and teaching;
- pedagogical application of information and communication technology;
- professional/staff development for the effective use of technologies for learning and teaching;
- staff support for the use of technologies for learning and teaching;
- student training for the effective use of technologies for learning;
- student support for the use of technologies for learning.

For more information on the ACODE benchmarks for the use of technology in learning and teaching refer to the following site:

http://www.acode.edu.au/aboutus/acodebenchmkwksp/default.htm

At the strategic level, an institution might wish to consider incorporating an appropriate benchmarking regime early in its adoption of e-learning so that it might monitor its progress *ab initio* and make adjustments to performance as necessary. This would be particularly important in the case of an institution including e-learning elements in its investment strategy as reported to the TEC and consequently having a system for measuring if the strategy is succeeding.

Earlier in this discussion, the case was made for key decisions about e-learning to be taken at least at the level of programme leadership if not at a divisional or whole-of-institution level. The case was made on grounds of strategic focus, programme coherence, quality assurance, student support and management of resources.

The development and application of e-learning within a teaching programme should be guided by a set of statements that:

- identifies the target student market for the programme;
- outlines a teaching and learning plan to engage this market;
- provides a timeline for developing and implementing this plan;
- identifies the resources and support services that will be available to assist staff and students in the development and delivery of the programme.

The length and extent of such statements will vary and may be best understood by reference to one or two cases. The key criteria that need to be satisfied are: do the statements provide adequate guidance to staff on what is expected of their online teaching, and do they allow some assessment of the extent to which the guidelines are being met?

# 6.5. What systems and processes are in place for the planning, preparation and production of study materials? What systems are in place for monitoring the quality of study materials, including their periodic review and redevelopment?

Effective e-learning is heavily dependent on the timely availability of well-designed teaching and learning resources. This apparently obvious statement is in some contrast to conventional classroom teaching where planning, preparation and teaching often take place in a rolling sequence throughout the duration of a course.

If the institution has chosen a production team approach to course preparation, it is likely that these processes will be planned very thoroughly. An institutional leader responsible for e-learning should expect to see very strong, well-documented project management processes in place for the development of online learning resources. These documents should indicate the contribution each member of a production team should make, when it needs to be made, how each contribution articulates with the remainder and how it will be resourced. They should also clarify the leadership of the project and the communication processes among the team. Senior managers need to be aware of critical deadlines that need to be met and to understand the steps that must be taken if these deadlines are not met.

If the institution has opted for a more teacher-centric approach, it is possible that the need for such systems will be overlooked or underestimated. This will expose the institution to the risk that some online courses will fail to be ready or fail to reach an acceptable standard by the time that students need to start their study. Institutional leaders need to take steps to minimise this risk. Such systems will vary depending on the individual institution and the programme in question but they should all meet the following characteristics:

- Systems should be in place for identifying upcoming courses that contain an e-learning component and for communicating this information to the teachers/developers concerned, to the programme leader, to central service providers (such as the LMS manager, the library, student support service etc) and to the instructional development support unit that is likely to be asked to provide assistance.
- Any staff member responsible for developing and teaching online should have the requisite skills and knowledge to prepare study materials and teach in this medium.
- The level, nature and amount of assistance and advice that will be available from instructional development staff and other specialist staff should be indicated at the outset but with the expectation that some teacher/developers may need considerably more assistance than others.
- A timeline for the planning, preparation and production of resources should be negotiated with the teacher/developer and performance monitored against this timeline and against any recognised quality standards.
- Someone should be given the responsibility of monitoring the development of each course, providing feedback to the teacher/developer at appropriate points in the process and alerting the programme director to any risk of failure to complete the work on time and to a satisfactory standard. An instructional developer – either at a central or programme level – will usually fill this role, though a teaching colleague could do so instead.
- Explicit recognition should be given for the time teachers need to prepare their online course materials.

## 6.6. What policies and systems are in place to ensure the uptake of e-learning by teaching staff?

This is a highly topical question. The recently completed Final Report of the Evaluation of the e-Learning Collaborative Development Fund (May 2007) conceded that e-learning is still the domain of the 'early adopters' in most tertiary institutions in

New Zealand. They attributed this lag, in large part, to the lack of competence or confidence of most of their colleagues to teach in this medium.

There is undoubtedly a lot of force to this argument. Just as institutions are building capability in infrastructure and management systems to support e-learning, they also need to build the capability of their staff to teach in this medium. However, an increased investment in staff training and development is unlikely to be sufficient to achieve the quantum increase in uptake of e-learning to which many institutions aspire.

Institutions wishing to make faster progress in terms of e-learning uptake generally find it necessary to introduce policies that will drive rather than simply enable this uptake. These policies will vary in detail but they are all likely to define the matter in institutional or collective terms rather than as one driven exclusively by individual preference or choice. The following are just a few of the measures that some New Zealand institutions have adopted to ensure a steady uptake of e-learning:

- There is a clear and targeted endorsement of e-learning in the institution's strategic documents. The documents make it clear how, why and when e-learning will be used and just as importantly, where it will not be used.
- Decisions about teaching mode are made at a divisional or departmental level on behalf of an entire teaching programme and not left only to the discretion of individual teachers.
- Programme leaders accept responsibility for managing the implementation of e-learning across the selected qualifications.
- Introduction of e-learning within a programme is planned and implemented in a carefully phased way.
- There is a realistic and transparent resourcing of the planning and development phase of the implementation.
- Programme teams work within an agreed set of standards to ensure that all courses meet at least minimal standards for the development, delivery and support of their e-learning.
- Staff training for e-learning is designed and managed around the work of the programme teaching team as they plan, develop and implement their new e-learning programme.
- Members of a teaching team receive the training and support they need to adapt to this new teaching medium.
- Teachers are actively supported in this transition by specialist staff and by ongoing monitoring by the programme leader.
- A programme-based quality management system is in place.

These conditions may be too demanding for some programme teams. Shifting from conventional teaching to e-learning does represent a significant change in professional practice and some teachers may find it altogether too challenging. Divisional and programme leaders need to assess the readiness of their staff before committing to this shift. A small number of reluctant staff may be managed through targeted assistance or redeployment to other duties. But a significant group of reluctant adopters may warrant a reconsideration of any plan to introduce e-learning into a programme.

#### 7. Teaching and learning

# 7.1. What is the institutional (faculty, programme) vision for teaching and learning, and how does e-learning support this vision? Are you confident that this vision is shared by your teachers and students?

This is another take on the question: if e-learning is the answer, what was the question? Another more convoluted way of asking the question might be: how will e-learning enhance your teaching in ways that you are currently unable to achieve in a cost-effective way through conventional means?

e-Learning technology offers a number of learning and communications tools to educators. Their interest in and use of these tools is likely to vary depending on the particular challenges they face in teaching their subject, or their student body. It is important that there is a high-level understanding about how a particular e-learning solution will address a specific subject or target student group. A listing of some of the commonly available functionality of e-learning LMS will illustrate this point:

e-Learning LMS:

- allow students to access course-specific learning materials when they need them and wherever they happen to be;
- allow teachers and students to communicate both synchronously and asynchronously, bilaterally and multilaterally, in ways that are not always possible in large classroom situations and that are seldom possible in conventional correspondence study;
- allow students to simulate clinical and work-based experience through simulation software and sophisticated multimedia packages;
- allow teachers and students the option of paced or self-paced study;
- allow students to check their learning progress through automated learning programmes and quizzes;

• allow students to extend their learning experience beyond the institutional boundaries to draw on the resources of the Internet or of collaborating institutions and individuals.

#### 8. Student support

When institutions commit to communicating with students online, they take on a concomitant commitment to ensure that these online channels are accessible, robust, user-friendly, authoritative and comprehensive.

#### 8.1. What support do students need for online study?

Students can only study effectively online if they can access their online study environment, know how to navigate within that environment, are competent users of the necessary software and information systems, are informed about any policies about their online study and have access to prompt advice and assistance when they encounter difficulties with this environment.

These needs are generally best met by dedicated, institution-level service agencies rather than by individual teachers or even by programme units. In this way, the institution can ensure that there are robust, reliable and cost-effective systems in place to ensure that students are able to study online. If this seems a statement of the obvious, one only has to recall the very recent past as the first generation of 'early adopters' enthusiastically committed their classes of students to their home-grown e-learning programmes. Very quickly these teachers realised that the burden of fielding frantic telephone calls from students about establishing and maintaining a connection with the online teaching environment was not one they felt willing or sometimes even competent to handle. These early adopters were in the vanguard of the call to institutions to provide some more generic support for students studying online.

These services will commonly include the following:

#### 8.1.1. A helpdesk service

Institutions with a significant e-learning programme are likely to find it necessary to set up some kind of helpdesk service. Their job will be to respond to service and information queries from student users. If the institution already possesses a general help desk, it may be possible to add this task of meeting frontline student queries about e-learning to their other duties. This has the advantage of economy and ease of access. Students have a single point of contact with the institution for any query about their relationship with the institution and a duplication, and possible confusion, of points of advice is avoided. However, this solution will only be effective if there are very clear guidelines about the issues the helpdesk can and cannot assist with, and how it handles the latter cases. It is a solution that also calls for thorough and continuous training and monitoring of helpdesk staff.

Alternatively, an institution may choose to establish a more specialised helpdesk function within its IT service or attached to the student computer laboratories. These two services are likely to have staff with the required expertise to address most of the connectivity, hardware and software issues that students may confront. They are also likely to be the point of contact for any queries that the institutional helpdesk is unable to resolve.

Service levels will be the subject of recurring attention for an e-learning helpdesk service wherever it is located within the organisation. There will be calls to extend the hours of this service beyond normal business hours and into the evenings and weekends. A judgement will need to be made in this respect about the institution's commitment to supporting genuinely flexible learning. Likewise, standards will need to be set concerning speed of response – whether an immediate, same-day or next-day response is acceptable for various types of queries, particularly when the query may come by email. Institutions supporting large numbers of learners will encounter huge fluctuations of usage through the day, across a week and over a year. They will probably need a flexible staffing policy to manage these fluctuations.

#### 8.1.2. Access to information about the online learning service

A helpdesk should not be the only or even the first support service available to students. Institutions will quickly find that they need to provide accessible advice to their students on a range of online services. These could include advice on:

- access to a student information system;
- access to an e-learning system;
- access to library resources online: eLibrary;
- allowed systems passwords;
- student email system: WebMail;
- contacting the IT service desk;
- getting access to their files remotely: MyFiles;
- registering for an Internet account;
- student email: WebMail.

The helpdesk can also pre-empt a lot of repeat queries by posting or publishing answers to frequently asked questions of the following kind:

- How do I manage email SPAM filters?
- How can I access my files from home?
- How much does it cost for CD burning/printing/scanning?
- How much space do I get on the network?

- I am trying to print but nothing is happening?
- I have an Internet account, but my WebMail isn't working?
- I need to type in a Word doc that I've downloaded but can't?
- What's my username/login?
- How can I put credit on my printing or Internet?

Students also need access to information on any key policies and regulations affecting their use of the online learning environment. These may concern the use of the institutional Internet and intranet, email use, copyright, plagiarism and guidelines for computer laboratory use.

All this information should be posted prominently on the institutional website but an abbreviated version should also be distributed to students in print form.

#### 8.1.3. Access to software

Most academic institutions require students to prepare assignments in an electronic form and to make use of software packages in various learning exercises. They will generally arrange site licences for given software packages. Students need to be able to access this software in a secure and authenticated environment.

#### 8.1.4. Training

Many institutions provide some sort of training to help students to make best advantage of their online study. These could consist of self-training online courses on various software packages or an online 'primer' on using the LMS itself. Some institutions have taken their training support a step further and put some of their generic student learning support online. (e.g., see <u>http://owll.massey.ac.nz/</u>)

## 8.2. Does the institution collect information about student access, knowledge and competence concerning e-learning?

The provision of support services should be based on well-researched knowledge about student needs. First and foremost, institutions should have a good idea of the level of Internet access enjoyed by their students before requiring them to study by that medium and also before they continue to invest in expensive computer laboratories or radio network systems. A very high proportion of New Zealand homes and workplaces now have Internet access so email communication can generally be taken for granted. But, with uptake of broadband access still lagging, requirement for heavy use of the Internet for home-based study may remain a challenge for some. Conversely, the ownership of laptop and tablet computers is now so high in some student groups that continued institutional investment in computer laboratories may not be a sound decision. Without data on student access, institutions are unlikely to make optimum decisions. Likewise, institutions need to know something about the IT capabilities of their students before continuing to invest in training students in these skills. An example from AUT University will illustrate this point.

AUT University students were surveyed on their confidence and competence in using the institution's e-learning platform AUTonline. Respondents were asked to indicate if they felt that their own IT capabilities were limiting the extent of their AUTonline use. The majority of students (71%) did not think their use of AUTonline was limited because their IT skills were lacking. However, 12% did think that this was the case and this proportion was higher amongst those aged 40 and over (25%), those from the Faculty of Applied Humanities (23%) and those aged 30-39 (21%). More than half of the survey respondents (56%) felt that it was easy to download files from AUTonline, 38% thought it was moderately easy and 5% had trouble downloading files. The sub-groups that appeared to have the most trouble downloading files from AUTonline were New Zealand Maori students, students aged 30 and above and parttime students, where one in ten said they found it difficult to download files. The results show a marked difference in ease of downloads between the Faculties of Applied Humanities and Business and those in Design and Creative Technologies and Health and Environmental Science. This matter warrants more investigation into the type of files being handled, in terms of staff training, or perhaps in terms of required bandwidth.

The data demonstrate that while students were fairly competent with their IT skills, there were particular groups of students and particular online functions that needed more attention.

## 8.3. What systems and standards are in place to ensure that students studying by the e-learning medium obtain adequate access to the range of support services available to campus-based students?

LMS are focused on teaching, learning and assessment. They may also provide links to other available online services. They are not likely to provide students with the array of informational, administrative and pastoral support services that they would normally receive as part of a campus-based study experience. Institutions need to ensure that e-learning students have adequate access to these various services. In the case of campus-based students, or students whose study involves them making regular visits to the campus, institutions might reasonably require them to access these services via the normal, face-to-face means. Often, a CMS, linked to a LMS, can provide students with vital and timely administrative information related to their courses.

So, for example, students could continue to visit the dean to obtain their course advice, complete their enrolment processes by queuing on campus, access the library through its front door, submit and collect their assignments by hand, pay their

fees and fines at the cashier's office, attend study skills courses on campus and sit their final exams in a campus-based exam room. Institutional leaders need to be alert to the service gaps that are likely to open up as their colleagues commit more intensively to e-learning, particularly by off-campus students. A distance student who enrols with a remote institution for an e-learning course cannot reasonably be required to access any of the foregoing services by visiting the campus. In many cases, these gaps can be closed by the appropriate use of print-and-post, telecommunications and a commitment by campus-based services providers to respond to emailed service requests. However, this will only happen if the support needs of these e-learning students is kept to the fore and the various service providers are regularly reminded of their obligations towards this group.

# 8.4. What level of commitment and progress has the institution made to extending its online services beyond e-learning to allow students to access more of their administrative, informational and support services online?

The previous section identified the very limited ability of a standard LMS to provide students with the full range of administrative, informational and pastoral support services they need and are entitled to. It identified 'work-around' solutions that can be employed involving print, post and telecommunications. Many institutions are recognising that these solutions are less than ideal. Increasingly, institutions are attempting to make more of their services, if not all of them, available to students online. This would mean that students undertaking study primarily online could also:

- study their upcoming course options and seek clarification and advice online;
- apply for enrolment and register for their courses online;
- pay all tuition and other fees online;
- · access orientation and study skills support online;
- interrogate their current and historic record of enrolment online;
- submit all their assignment work online through a secure system that ensures receipt and return of all work, that maintains the authoritative record of student achievement and that allows auditing of marking performance; and
- undertake library searches online and access available digital resources.

Providing these support services online will not be a trivial exercise for an institution. In fact, it will require the re-engineering of many of the institution's core administrative processes. For most institutions, this level of investment will not be justified simply to support a minority of students. The argument may need to be made on the basis of the efficiency and effectiveness of the institution's entire service operations. At the core of this issue is the question of how the LMS articulates with the institution's SMS and its course-offering database. Most institutions now have reasonably robust SMS and course-offering databases – the compliance requirements of their funders require it, if for no other reason. The problem arises in ensuring that the records of students and courses registered on most LMS are seamlessly articulated with their corresponding institutional SMS and course-offering databases. Some LMS provide more readily for this than others and it will depend on the specifications of the institutional systems. This is a key issue for institutional leaders to watch. If the articulation issue is not resolved, the management of student records will devolve to individual online teachers requiring periodic, error-prone, batch uploads to the central service. This is therefore a key consideration in choosing and then maintaining an institutional LMS and a CMS.

The second Massey University case study, "Developing an Online Infrastructure", shows the level of investment that can be required to bring an institution's infrastructure to the level where it can fully support on online study environment.

#### 9. Assessment and moderation

The assessment and moderation of student work in an e-learning environment generally follows similar principles and processes to those of conventional education. Assignment work is submitted electronically or by conventional mail; quizzes are available to provide summative or formative assessment during the course; students are able to complete examinations either face-to-face or online; and examples of student work and assessments can be sampled and moderated by peers in the normal way.

## 9.1. What are the key issues that institutional leaders need to be aware of with respect to online assessment and moderation?

There are probably just two or three issues on which senior institutional leadership need to take an active guiding hand in this area.

#### 9.1.1. The submission, recording and tracking of assignment work

One of the challenging features of e-learning is maintaining an authoritative record of the flow of student assignment work between students and markers, and then back again to students. The challenge is to relieve the individual markers of the entire responsibility for managing this process and for maintaining a definitive record of student achievement. With conventional teaching, programme units tend to operate some sort of central bureau for the submission, recording and forwarding of assignments, especially for courses with very large enrolments. Institutions with distance students studying by correspondence tend to insist that all student assignment work is submitted and returned through a single bureau which keeps a record of this traffic along with a record of grades awarded. These systems maintain

the definitive record to back up that of the teacher/marker in the case of lost assignments or discrepant grades. They may also allow the analysis and reporting of marking response times. This can be a very important measure of the quality and responsiveness of teaching.

LMS generally allow students to submit assignment work online and will generate an analysable record of the timeliness of receipt, the speed of marking and return, and the grades awarded. However, these systems will rarely allow anyone other than the teacher/marker concerned to monitor these processes. Some institutions are finding that by allowing students to submit assignment work directly to the markers via the LMS, they are losing their ability to monitor this important aspect of student and teacher performance. Institutional leaders need to understand the level of transparency and monitoring that their current systems allow in this regard. They need to ask whether it will be possible to develop ways of monitoring, analysing and reporting performance to programme leaders.

#### 9.1.2.

Online learning technology will generally allow teachers to schedule both formative quizzes and summative tests and examinations online. These can be scheduled for a set time or they can be scheduled on demand by the individual student. In either mode, the duration of the test can be specified or left open over an indefinite period.

The key issues for institutional leaders is how the processes for ensuring the identity of testees and for controlling their access to other resources and assistance during a test will comply with institutional policy and standards on these matters. There is a range of approaches that may be used. At the most relaxed level, students might be asked to attest formally to their identity and to their compliance with any regulations pertaining to examinations. This probably would not deter a determined cheat but it might strengthen the authority of the institution in dealing with a detected malefactor. Insisting that some proportion of assignment work is completed in a monitored environment, to provide a measure of confidence in the assessment of the balance, is another approach. Short, sharp tests scheduled over an hour or two may limit a student's ability to incorporate the work of others. Completing such online tests under the monitoring eye of a trusted local agent is a stronger approach.

This issue of online assessment introduces some significant risks for institutions. TEOs have an obligation to provide both students and teachers with a robust, secure and authentic assessment environment. It is very difficult to ensure that this obligation is being met if individual teachers are developing and managing their own online testing systems, and when there are no formal institutionally driven processes for managing or monitoring these processes.

#### 10. Technological infrastructure

### 10.1. What sort of technological infrastructure does an institution require to support e-learning?

This document sets out the hardware, software and support considerations for the implementation of e-learning at an institution. Senior managers **must** consult with their IT staff to ensure that system configurations proposed for the institution are exactly as specified by the LMS supplier.

The move to a blended learning environment can herald substantial change to the way in which an institution performs not only pedagogically, but also in a range of other related electronic services. Failure in a critical system, such as a LMS at an important time in the academic year, for example, just before the examinations, can have a catastrophic effect on the institution's reputation. It is therefore of fundamental importance that the technical and management aspects of any LMS are as failsafe as possible.

The purpose of a LMS or similar system is to enhance the learning experience offered to students. The following lists are the functions a system would be expected to perform. The manner in which they are performed is determined by the institution's choice of platform or related systems.

The Montana State University in the USA, as one example, recently (November 2007) released the following specifications for a LMS. (<a href="http://www.montana.edu/wwwpw/Addendum6RFP0803LearningMgmtSystem120307.doc">www.montana.edu/wwwpw/Addendum6RFP0803LearningMgmtSystem120307.doc</a>) Its content has been modified to suit the local conditions and are very similar to those used at AUT University.

## 10.2. What does 'instructional standards compliance' mean? And how important is it that your institution complies with these standards?

Instructional standards compliance concerns how well a product or system conforms to standards for sharing instructional materials with other online learning systems and other factors that may affect the decision of whether to switch from one product to another. Instructional standards compliance involves trying to make it possible for applications from different product producers to work well together.

There are probably two major reasons why an institution might want to ensure compliance with a set of emerging international standards for the development of digital learning objects. The first reason concerns the institution's ability to share digital courseware with other institutions. There is a growing market in digital courseware which allows institutions to avoid the considerable cost of developing all their digital material themselves. But this exchange of courseware is only possible when the authoring and management systems are compatible in a number of respects. Currently, many of the proprietary authoring systems are not mutually compatible and material developed on one platform may be unintelligible to another system. One way of ensuring compatibility is for a group of institutions to ensure a common development platform among its members. As long as each institution develops its material using the same version of the same software, it will probably be mutually compliant with the other collaborating institutions. However, this level of control is only possible among a small, local network of institutions. Once institutions start using different versions of a system, or start using new systems altogether, compatibility problems will arise.

The second reason why an institution might want to ensure compliance with international standards for courseware development is the likelihood that, at some time, it will wish to migrate to a new LMS. The purchase of a LMS represents a very small proportion of an institution's eventual investment in a LMS, or if open source, almost nothing. A much bigger cost is the investment of staff time in developing digital courseware. If an institution's present LMS is not compliant with a new platform, it can anticipate a major rework project in order to migrate the existing courseware to the new platform. Many of the proprietary systems in use by institutional standards and some rework may be unavoidable. However, in selecting a new LMS, an institutional leader may want to avoid this problem repeating itself when it comes time to replace the new system.

There are presently several proposed standards but the most prominent are the standards developed by the IMS Global Learning Consortium that define the technical specifications for interoperability of applications and services in distributed learning and support. The IMS standards can be found at <u>www.imsproject.org</u>. The SCORM standards-in-progress integrate the industry specifications from IMS, AICC, IEEE and ADRIANE and are operational standards with corresponding compliance test suites for learning objects (<u>http://www.adlnet.gov/scorm/index.aspx</u>). In terms of compliance, there appear to be three levels: awareness of the standards, claimed partial compliance and self-tested compliance with the SCORM test suites. Other migration considerations are situations that would make switching to another application more complicated, such as proprietary data formats for content, which make it difficult to import course content into another application. To the extent that student data is maintained in the system, there can be separate complications in migrating non-course information to other versions or platforms.

It may not be practical for institutional leaders to familiarise themselves with the arcane details of interoperability. These are matters that most IT managers find challenging. However, it would be useful for leaders to insist on getting answers to the following questions:

- What level of compliance does our institution currently meet in its use of elearning?
- What risks or opportunities does this present us with?
- What level of compliance should we be aspiring to?
- What are other providers doing about this issue and should we be conferring with them on this?
- How does any proposed new development affect our targeted level of compliance?

## 10.3. What sort of server environment will an institution need to support its growing use of e-learning?

The institution should develop its strategy for employing single or multiple server environments for the database engine, application server, etc. The system must demonstrate its architecture in terms of scalability and clearly indicate how it would correct operational problems due to the number of users, amount of data stored or batch and report processes. It must also clearly indicate how the total number of users in the database and a large number of simultaneous users during high volume periods, typical at semester start-up, impact the performance of the LMS. It should describe its hosted environment if applicable. It should also describe how the LMS would position the institution to take advantage of emerging technologies.

All too commonly, an institution's development of its server environment to meet the needs of its e-learning programme will be responsive rather than proactive. A hard-pressed IT manager will be forced to upgrade the server capacity only when the present arrangement starts to fail through overload. A more effective strategic approach would be to ensure that the IT manager works closely with the e-learning manager to anticipate growing demands of this operation with a longer- term plan for server development.

A related issue is that of 'interfaces'. Many higher education institutions use a range of SMS. The institution must ensure a LMS that provides efficient integration with them, including a single sign-on authentication system for both faculty and students, and encryption of communications between client stations, application servers and database servers.

#### 10.4. What should a LMS be able to do?

It is clearly important to identify what functions will be needed before selecting a LMS. This question is less important than it was in the early years of e-learning as most products available have a very impressive array of functionality. Perhaps more important is to ask how the institution will use a LMS and which functions will therefore be particularly important? The following is a list of the functionality that might be sought in a LMS. Institutional leaders should challenge their senior

managers of e-learning to identify which functions they will encourage and support, and how staff and students will be trained in their use.

#### 10.4.1. Learner tools – communication tools

Discussion forums: Discussion forums capture the exchange of messages over time, sometimes over a period of days, weeks or even months. Threaded discussion forums are organised into categories so that the exchange of messages and responses are grouped together and are easy to find. The organisation of the messages can be a simple temporal sequence or they can be presented as a threaded discussion where only messages on a specific topic, called a thread, are displayed in sequence.

File exchange: File exchange tools allow learners to upload files from local computers and share these files with instructors or other students in an online course. Note: File attachments to messages are part of internal email and discussion forums. File exchange tools enable downloading files and upload or posting files over the web from within the course (e.g., assignment drop box or collaboration/group tools).

Internal email: Internal email is electronic mail that can be read or sent from inside an online course. Email tools enable messages to be read and sent exclusively inside the course. They also enable links to external email addresses to facilitate contact between course members. Internal email may include an address book and some address books are searchable.

Online journal/notes: Online journal/notes enable students to make notes in a personal or private journal. Students can share personal journal entries with their instructor or other students but cannot share private journal entries. This tool can be used to facilitate writing assignments in which parts are written over time and then later assembled into a document. This tool also can be used to make personal annotations to pages of a course that can later be used as a study aide. The online journal/notes tool can also be used to record reflections about personal learning accomplishments and how to apply this new knowledge.

Real-time chat: Real-time chat is a conversation between people over the Internet that involves exchanging messages back and forth at virtually the same time. Chat includes facilities like Internet Relay Chat (IRC), Instant Messenger and similar text exchanges in real time. Some chat facilities allow the chats to be archived for later reference so that they may be more easily used as part of a course grading system.

Video services: Video services enable real-time voice and picture (video) interaction as part of the course. Video services include tools for broadcasting video to those without a video input device. Some video services provide for two-way or multi-way video conferencing, which may be point-to-point connections or mediated through a central server.

Whiteboard: Whiteboard/video tools include an electronic version of a dry-erase board used by instructors and learners in a virtual classroom (also called SMART board or electronic whiteboard) and other synchronous services such as applicationsharing, group-browsing, and Voiceover IP (also called VoIP or voice chat). Application-sharing allows a software program running on one computer to be viewed and sometimes controlled from a remote computer. For example, an instructor using this feature can demonstrate a chemistry experiment or a software utility to an online student and allow the student to use the demonstration software from his/her own computer. Group web browsing allows an instructor to guide learners on a tour of websites using a shared browser window. Voiceover IP tools enable two or more to communicate via microphone and speaker conference call style over the Internet connection in real time. Alternatively, a functionally similar tool is used to set up and manage a conference call using the telephone system.

#### 10.4.2. Learner tools – productivity tools

Bookmarks: Bookmarks allow students to easily return to important pages within a course or outside a course on the web. In some cases bookmarks are for an individual student's private use, and in others can be shared with an instructor or with an entire class. Some LMS also allow bookmarks to be annotated. Systems vary in allowing students to store bookmarks in a course folder, a personal folder or a private folder. Course folders are open to all students and instructors in a course. Personal folders contain bookmarks that individual students can share whereas bookmarks in private folders are for the student's own use.

Orientation/Help: Orientation/Help provides tools to help students learn how to use the online learning software, often in the form of a self-paced tutorial, guide or student helpdesk. Orientation/Help tools enable the student to make the best use of the software.. Sometimes additional tools are included to support effective study practices, which can range from simple review tools to mini-courses in how to study effectively. Student helpdesk tools facilitate the tasks of an operator responding to requests for help by student users of the application and may include some online resources directly available to students, such as context-sensitive helpful hints and wizard-style assistants. A student helpdesk does not typically offer help with course content.

Plan/Progress review: Student progress review tools enable students to plan for their workload and assignments typically through a course calendar. This may include the use of an online calendar. Student progress review tools enable students to check marks on assignments and tests as well as their progress through the course material. In some tools there are additional provisions to support student workload planning as well by means of a calendar-type tool.

Searching within course: Searching within a course is a tool that allows users to find course material based on key words. Searching tools enable students to locate parts of the course materials on the basis of word matching beyond the user's current browser page (which can be searched using the browser>edit>find menu).

Work offline/synchronise: This feature provides the ability to work in the course environment offline, and for the work to be synchronised with the next login to the course environment. In some products, the resume course function also lets users save their place in an online course. This applies to work on PDAs. The ability to work in a course environment offline is especially useful in situations where communication links are unreliable or expensive. This offline environment is essentially a local client application that embodies the important features of the online system without the constant connection to the Internet. When the user resumes the course, the resume course tool could be used to take users directly to the page of the course or the shareable content object where they had stopped working.

#### 10.4.3. Learner tools – student involvement tools

Group work: Group work is the capacity to organise a class into groups and provide group workspace that enables the instructor to assign specific tasks or projects. Some LMS also enable groups to have their own communications features like real-time chat and discussion forums.

Self-assessment: Self-assessment tools allow students to take practice or review tests online. These assessments do not count toward a grade. When self-assessment tools are combined with pedagogical skill in preparing the content of the test items and response feedback, there can be positive effects on student motivation that are formative in nature.

Student community-building: Student community-building tools enable online instructors to create communities for students to share ideas or build knowledge. Student community-building tools can include facilities to encourage and enhance morale. These tools allow the instructor to create and manage small groups using discussion threads, chats or other course tools in a larger class so that small group members can interact with each other enough to develop friendships.

Student portfolios: Student portfolios may be used by students as personal homepages or may be a place for them to showcase their work in a course. This is becoming an increasingly important part of student work and will require substantial upgrades to server storage requirements over time.

#### 10.4.4. Support tools – administration tools

Authentication: Authentication is a procedure that works like a lock and key by providing access to software or a computer system by a user who enters the

appropriate user name and password. The term also can refer to the procedure through which user names and passwords are created and maintained. Authentication systems can involve a single logon, which is the most user-friendly and most vulnerable to hacking. More complicated systems can involve layers with separate logins for each layer and secure encryption. For those working in multiple campus or multiple institutional environments, the product 'Shibboleth' (<u>http://shibboleth.internet2.edu</u>) should be evaluated for its utility.

Course authorisation: Course authorisation tools are used to regulate who can use the software and in what way. Authorisation tools assign access privileges and other privileges to specific users or user groups (e.g., teaching assistants and designers).

Hosted services: This section refers to having all the online learning activity supported outside the institution. Hosted services mean that the online learning application provider furnishes the application with the server and technical support from its location so the institution does not provide any hardware. Off-site hosting involves hosting courses from servers at the application provider's location so that the local institution does not need an application server or the associated network hardware and software (a.k.a. outsourcing web services). An important aspect of outsourcing course hosting is that it includes outsourcing the associated technical support and maintenance as well as the actual web service of providing courses.

Registration Integration: Experience shows that this is a very important part of the system. Most LMS take nightly feeds from the SMS as the single source of reliable data, and the systems must be fully integrated, hence the importance of having software written to proper specifications. Registration tools support the enrolment of students in an online course, either by the instructor or through self-registration of the students themselves, or through integration with the SMS. Some registration tools allow instructors to enrol students in batches through the use of formatted text files. Time-limited student self-registration may also be available to shift the data entry process to the students. This feature includes the integration of the online LMS with an administrative student registration or information system. Integration with SMS tools provides the ability for the application to work with known SMS. Typically, integration will allow for the following types of functionality: shared common student information, ability to transfer grades back and forth, and ability to have common accounts. The registration tools for secure transactions may also involve making additional arrangements with financial institutions for the funds to be transferred to the institution, and these arrangements may have a separate cost structure.

#### 10.4.5. Support tools – course delivery tools

Automated testing and scoring: Automated testing and scoring tools allow instructors to create, administer and score objective tests. Some products provide support for proctored testing in a suitable computer laboratory classroom as an approach to ensuring academic honesty.

Course management: Course management tools allow instructors to control the progression of an online class through the course material. Course management tools are used to make specific resources in a course, such as readings, tests or discussions, available to students for a limited time only or after some prerequisite is achieved. This deliberate unfolding of the course resources can be used to prevent students from being overwhelmed and discouraged. Some LMS enable this course management to be individualised so that the course experience can be tailored to accommodate individual learner situations.

Instructor helpdesk: Instructor helpdesk tools include resources available for instructors who need help using the LMS software. This does not typically include assistance with content. Instructor helpdesk tools may enable instructors to create a community with other instructors to share ideas or build knowledge. This service is normally supplemented by specialist staff dedicated to staff support.

Online grading tools: Online grading tools help instructors mark, provide feedback on student work, and manage a grade book. Online grading tools enable instructors to mark assignments online, store grades and delegate the marking process to teaching assistants. Some tools allow instructors to provide feedback to students, to export the grade book to an external spreadsheet programme and to override the automatic scoring.

Student tracking: Student tracking is the ability to track the usage of course materials by students and to perform additional analysis and reporting both of aggregate and individual usage. Student tracking tools include facilities for statistical analysis of student-related data and the display of the progress of individual students in the course structure. The data generally consists of both activities and the time stamps of when the activity occurred.

#### 10.4.6. Support tools - curriculum design tools

Course templates: Instructors use templates to go through a step-by-step process to set up the essential features of a course. Course templates are artefacts of particular pedagogical approaches to instructional content and process. The local value of particular templates will depend in part on the match between the template designer's approach and the specific instructor's approach. A LMS should accommodate several pedagogical approaches.

Curriculum management: Curriculum management provides students with customised programmes or activities based on prerequisites, prior work or testing. Curriculum management includes tools to manage multiple programmes, to enable skills/competencies management and to handle certification management. These tools may be similar to the tools used in student services as part of providing academic advice to students. Customised look and feel: Customised look and feel is the ability to change the graphics and look of a course. This also includes the ability to provide institutional branding for courses. Customised look and feel also includes the branding of content with institutional logos and navigation to provide a consistent look and feel across the entire institutional site and integration with additional institutional resources, such as the library. Consultation with the institutional marketing department may be advisable.

Instructional design tools: Instructional design tools help instructors create learning sequences, e.g., with lesson templates or wizards.

Designer file and content management: The LMS should allow the course designer/instructor to easily move a variety of files, course modules and other content into and out of a course.

#### 10.4.7. Third-party modular and extendable functionality

Third-party content: Instructors often speed up their development and delivery of online courses by utilising third-party content resources such as course cartridges/e-packs, standalone learning objects and other kinds of modules or resources that are in addition or external to the content they create within an online course. An institution's system must allow the use of standards-compliant third-party software to encourage academic staff to make the best use of the system.

Assessment tools: Assessment tools allow an instructor, programme or institution the ability to track key performance indicators and perform evaluation and assessment at the student, programme and college level.

Content management tools: Management of content for updating and for rolling over courses is a necessary feature involving some costs additional to the cost of a Learning Management System. An institution's LMS should be able to accommodate a CMS if it is not already integrated in a comprehensive package.

#### 10.4.8.

ePortfolio tools: ePortfolio tools allow students to upload, manage, share and maintain assignments, assessments, materials and other artefacts from their educational experience. The student portfolio may persist and be accessible to students and its designees, such as potential employers, beyond graduation. Such a feature generates linkages to Alumni but also involves significant additional storage.

#### 10.4.9. Conversion solutions and performance information

Conversion/Migration solutions: Institutions choose to change platforms from time to time. Any LMS should be able to provide the programmes/tools/staff necessary to

migrate existing course content to the new LMS. It should be noted that this is no easy task, not only technologically, but also in terms of staff training.

#### 10.4.10. Security

Every tertiary institution is very concerned about security and requires all new systems and services to integrate with existing security controls. Any LMS must supply documentation on security administration procedures and security controls of the LMS.

Access and security strategies: A LMS should have access strategies and appropriate levels of control within the solution. Detailed descriptions of supported authentication and authorisation mechanisms, as well as access logging and accounting capabilities, must be provided in the documentation.

Security provider: The LMS must clearly explain what security features and capabilities are incorporated in it. Documents must clearly explain the security functions of any proposed third-party software and must clearly explain the security processes, structures and the maintenance required for each.

Database security relationship: The LMS must clearly explain how the security supplied with the solution interacts with database security (e.g. is database security used, respected, by-passed?). Which database systems and versions does the product support?

External security standards: The system documents must clearly explain how the solution addresses externally mandated security standards and other security compliance standards. If this is supplied through third-party software, it must clearly specify the vendors and products that are recommended or required to work with the solution being proposed.

Future compliance: LMS documents must clearly explain how the security components of the proposed solution can be adapted to enable the institution to comply with external and internal audit requirements in the future.

Security integration scenarios: The documents must clearly explain how the security features/components in the solution perform under each of the following scenarios: common end-user security methodologies, the system administrator's security duties and any security best-practices implementing the proposed LMS into a typical institution's infrastructure or environment.

Accessibility compliance: This means meeting the standards that allow people with disabilities to access information online. Persons with disabilities (e.g., the blind) use a device to 'read' the screen. Accessibility for persons with disabilities entails providing for a version that can be processed by a screen reader. Many screen readers have difficulty rendering frames, tables and images (without alt text tags).

The practical accessibility difficulties are compounded by the fact that many people with disabilities do not have recent equipment and software. Any LMS must allow legal compliance requirements for disability access to be met.

#### 10.5. What other IT support issues will you face?

Firstly, there are a number of requirements that institutions need to fulfil to ensure security of service for this medium. These include:

- managing the institutional licence for the LMS;
- hosting the LMS and all online courseware on secure central servers;
- managing all updates of courseware on a recurring basis, retaining copies of previous versions;
- managing the relationship with 'course controllers', ensuring the roll-over of course material from offering to offering;
- managing a secure register of student users and their authorised access to online courseware and other online services and databases (in particular, managing the interface between the LMS and the institutional SMS);
- maintaining a confidential record of all course-related communications, particularly any online assessment, testing or examinations;
- generating appropriate reports on system usage.

These services will generally be provided by a central institutional unit, either a specialised e-learning support unit or a subset of the institution's IT division. There are high risks associated with most of these services and devolving them to programme units is seldom seen as a prudent or an economic option.

Secondly, there are some significant networking and end-user issues that institutions must address. Any member of staff involved in developing, teaching or assessing online courses will require regular, secure access to an appropriate workstation which will need to be part of a secure institutional network of adequate capacity and performance. If it is intended that campus-based students should access e-learning resources, then they will also need appropriate access, either through computer laboratories – which will require managing – or by implementing wireless networking on campus. The latter strategy, increasingly favoured, will place responsibility for providing end-user hardware on individual students. In other words, they will need to buy their own wireless-enabled laptops. Any institutions need to avoid piecemeal commitment to e-learning on the part of individual teachers and course developers. A student may accept the one-off expense of purchasing a laptop and software if these will be heavily used throughout a programme; they will be far less tolerant of a

requirement to purchase such equipment if the use is restricted to one or two components of a larger programme.

Thirdly, the institution is likely to want to produce or commission multimedia learning resources that exceed the capacity of the workstations available to teaching staff or possibly the skills and available time of those staff. Decisions need to be made about the teaching and related services that are being supported through these media, about the particular media that will be supported, about the levels of investment that are sustainable and about the sourcing of these services – preferably in that order.

So, for instance, a decision might be made that students in a programme require online access to digital video recordings of laboratory sequences. This may lead to a decision to support a particular means of recording this laboratory work and incorporating the material into online courseware. The use of this mode should be budgeted within available resources, taking into account the scale of the operation and any possible re-use or sale of the material. Finally, the production work needs to be undertaken either by a unit within the institution or outsourced on contract to an outside agency. All too commonly, institutions reverse the sequence, developing their own multimedia production centre, giving it an annual one-line budget and then allowing it to set its own production programme, based on criteria that suit their interests rather than those of the end-users.

This is not an argument against setting up multimedia production centres within institutions. As the scale and sophistication of an institution's e-learning grows, so does the case for owning and managing the production facilities. However, there are some strong arguments in favour of outsourcing these services while the internal demand is relatively small or uneven or where teachers are wanting to use a range of different media to support their teaching. The institution is able to avoid a substantial up-front investment in staff and equipment for what may be short-lived technologies. It is also forced to acknowledge and meet the cost of each commissioned product or service rather than have these choices obscured by the sunk costs associated with an existing institutional unit.

A fourth and critical infrastructural issue is the extent to which e-learning courseware and e-learning services are integrated with other online services operated by the institution. These issues have been canvassed elsewhere in this report but they raise once more the question of strategic leadership and the locus of responsibility for elearning.

#### 10.6. How should you choose a LMS?

The great majority of institutions will want to support the use of one or more LMS across the institution. A LMS is a set of computer programmes that provides a framework for courses to be developed, taught and managed online. The need for some sort of LMS is abundantly clear. From an institutional point of view, a LMS

provides a framework that is functional, robust, transparent, manageable and reasonably predictable in terms of cost and performance. Teachers are able to develop their courses and teach and assess their students on a stable, predictable platform without having to develop or even understand these background operations. Students enjoy a similar set of advantages to their teachers and also have the assurance that both the institution and the LMS provider have an active interest in maintaining a reliable service.

The real question is not whether but which. Ten and more years ago there was a variety of emerging, developing LMS all looking to expand their user base. Institutions made their selection on a range of home-grown criteria. These commonly included:

- the range, ease of use and applicability of functions available through the LMS;
- the size of the user base for the LMS, particularly the New Zealand user base;
- whether the LMS in question is being used or considered by institutions with which an institution is collaborating or anticipates collaborating;
- the service record of the supplier, particularly their demonstrated willingness to continue to develop their product to meet changing sector needs;
- the cost and the business model available for the LMS and, in particular, the scalability of the cost structure to meet anticipated growth;
- the ability of the LMS to articulate with other relevant online database services such as the institution's SMS, academic programme database, finance system and library;
- the ability of the institution to protect its own intellectual property that may be used in conjunction with the LMS;
- the ability of the institution to host and manage the LMS and courseware on its own servers where this was seen as desirable;
- the feasibility and costs associated with shifting from the original LMS to another in future.

These criteria remain equally valid today. However, the several dozen contending proprietary LMS of a decade ago have been reduced to three or four major players today. These all tend to have similar levels of functionality and performance against the other listed criteria. So, institutional leaders should certainly expect a robust comparison to be made between the competing claims of, say, Blackboard if they are in the market for a proprietary product. The issue that is arousing much more interest and debate currently is whether institutions should choose a proprietary product or opt for an open source solution for their e-learning. 'Open source' is the term most commonly applied to software whose source code is available to the general public

with relaxed or non-existent intellectual property restrictions. This allows users to create software content through incremental individual effort or through collaboration.

The case for open source solutions is passionately advocated by its proponents. Open source solutions leave the ownership and control of the system in the hands of the user. They can be modified at will to meet the needs of the user and they avoid the legal and financial entanglements of service contracts with proprietary suppliers. On the other hand, they tend to mean that the institution must shoulder the responsibility, costs and risks associated with developing and maintaining its own open source solution. This will be a particular concern for a small institution for whom the development and maintenance costs associated with an open source solution will be similar to those facing a much larger institution.

Probably the key consideration for an institution confronting this choice will be to keep in step with decisions being made by other institutions in the sector, particularly with those institutions with which the institution is collaborating in its provision or support for e-learning. Where a significant group of institutions is making a commitment to collaborating on the development and support of an open source solution, this may be a sensible solution to embrace. Where an institution is faced with developing and maintaining its own unique open source solution, it might be more prudent and more economic to sign up with a proprietary product.

#### Bibliography

- Advanced Distributed Learning. (2004). *SCORM specifications*. Retrieved 28.04.08 from <u>http://www.adlnet.gov/scorm/index.aspx</u>
- Association of Staff in Tertiary Education (ASTE). (2004). Proposed standards for eeducation from the participants of the Professional Online Conference. Retrieved 03.12.04 from <u>http://www.aste.ac.nz/all/framespages/e-</u> <u>learning/Proposed%20Standards%20(Final).pdf</u>

Auckland University of Technology. (2002). Strategic plan 2002-2007.

- Australasian Council on Open, Distance and e-Learning (ACODE). (2005). ACODE benchmarks for the use of technology in learning and teaching. Retrieved 28.04.08 from http://www.acode.edu.au/aboutus/acodebenchmkwksp/default.htm
- Australian National Training Authority (ANTA). (2002). Quality assurance information kit: Training package support materials. Retrieved 14.12.04 from <u>http://www.anta.gov.au/images/publications/QA\_kit.pdf</u>
- Australian Universities Quality Agency (AUQA). (2004). *Educational design and development for quality learning. Southern Cross University.* Retrieved 10.12.04 from <u>http://www.auqa.edu.au/gp/search/detail.php?gp\_id=1036</u>
- Barker, K. (2002). *Canadian recommended e-learning guide (CanRegs).* Retrieved 19.11.04 from <u>http://www.futured.com/pdf/CanREGs%20Eng.pdf</u>
- Bay of Plenty Polytechnic. (n.d.). *E services*. Retrieved 26.04.08 from <u>http://www.boppoly.ac.nz/go/e-services/</u>
- Biggs, J. (2001). The reflective institution: Assuring and enhancing the quality of teaching and learning. *Higher Education, 41*(3), 221-238. Retrieved 02.12.04 from Academic Search Premier Database.
- Butterfield, S., Chambers, M., Moseley, B., Prebble, T., Uys, P. & Woodhouse, D. (1999). *External quality assurance for the virtual institution*. New Zealand Universities Academic Audit Unit.
- Chickering, A. & Ehrmann, S. (1996). *Implementing the seven principles: Technology as a lever*. Retrieved 26.04.08 from <u>http://www.tltgroup.org/programs/seven.html</u>

Chickering, A. W. & Gamson, Z. (1987). Seven principles for good practice in undergraduate education. Retrieved 26.05.08 from <u>http://aahebulletin.com/public/archive/sevenprinciples%201987.asp</u> (old link) <u>http://www.worldcat.org/search?q=seven%20principles%20issn:0162-</u> <u>7910&fq=dt:art&qt=owc\_search\_art</u> (new link)

- Department of Education, Training and Youth Affairs (DETYA). (2000). *The Australian higher education quality assurance framework*. Retrieved 13.12.04 from <u>http://www.dest.gov.au/highered/occpaper/00g/00g.pdf</u>
- e-Learning Advisory Group (New Zealand). (2002). *Highways and pathways: Exploring New Zealand's e-learning opportunities*. Retrieved 03.12.04 from <u>http://www.steo.govt.nz/download/e-learning.pdf</u>
- European Institute for e-Learning & Learning Innovations Forum d'Innovations d'Apprentissage. (2004). Introducing the Open eQuality Learning Standards. Retrieved 10.12.04 from <u>http://www.eife-</u> <u>I.org/observatory/quality/oeqls/intro/attach/OeQLs%20May%202004.pdf</u> (old link) <u>http://www.eife-I.org/publications/quality/oeqls/intro/view</u> (new link)
- Flexible Learning Advisory Group (FLAG). (2002). Quality auditing of online learning: A guide for AQTF auditors. Retrieved 03.12.04 from <u>http://flexiblelearning.net.au/qualityaudit/qa\_guidelines\_31october.doc</u>
- Frontend.com. (2001, May). Why people can't use e-learning: What the e-learning sector needs to know about usability. Retrieved 26.04.08 from <a href="http://infocentre.frontend.com/infocentre/articles/whypeoplecantuseelearning.html">http://infocentre.frontend.com/infocentre/articles/whypeoplecantuseelearning.html</a>
- Higgins, A. H. (1998). Winds of change and paradigm shifts: Correspondence, distance and open learning. *Journal of Distance Learning 4*, No 1, 1998: 23-29.
- Higher Education Funding Council for England (HEFCE) & Joint Information Systems Committee (JISC). (2005, March). *HEFCE strategy for e-learning*. Retrieved 03.11.08 from <u>http://www.hefce.ac.uk/pubs/hefce/2005/05\_12/</u>
- IMS Global Learning Consortium. (n.d.). IMS technical specifications. Retrieved 28.04.08 from <a href="http://www.imsproject.org/">http://www.imsproject.org/</a>
- Joint Information Systems Committee. (2008). *Tangible benefits of e-learning: Does investment yield interest?* Retrieved 12.05.08 from <u>http://www.jisc.ac.uk/publications/publications/bptangiblebenefitsv1.aspx</u>
- Lai, K.-W., Pratt, K. & Grant, A. (2003). State of the art and trends in distance, flexible, and open learning: A review of the literature. Retrieved 07.12.04 from <u>http://hedc.otago.ac.nz/TLI/distance\_learning\_pdf/distance\_lit\_review.pdf</u> (old link) <u>http://www.otago.ac.nz/courses/distance\_study/pdf/distance\_lit\_review.pdf</u> (new link)
- Marshall, S. (2004). *Determination of New Zealand tertiary institution e-learning capability: An application of an e-learning maturity model.* Retrieved 08.12.04 from <a href="http://www.utdc.vuw.ac.nz/research/emm/documents/literature.pdf">http://www.utdc.vuw.ac.nz/research/emm/documents/literature.pdf</a>

- Marshall, S. (2005-2008). Publications relating to the eMM Model. Retrieved 28.04.08 from <a href="http://www.utdc.vuw.ac.nz/research/emm/Publications.shtml">http://www.utdc.vuw.ac.nz/research/emm/Publications.shtml</a>
- Massey University. (2001, March). Online learning at Massey University: Report of the Information Technology and Distance Education Taskforce. Palmerston North: Massey University.
- Massey University. (n.d.). Online Writing and Learning Link (OWLL). Retrieved 28.04.08 from <a href="http://owll.massey.ac.nz/">http://owll.massey.ac.nz/</a>
- Ministry of Education. (2004). *Interim tertiary e-learning framework*. Retrieved 19.11.04 from <u>http://www.steo.govt.nz/download/Interim%20Tertiary%20e-Learning%20Framework%20-%20web.pdf</u>

Montana State University, Bozeman. (2007). Learning management system software for MSU system (Bozeman, MSU Northern, Gt. Falls COT, MSU Billings). Retrieved 28.04.08 from <u>http://www.montana.edu/wwwpw/Addendum6RFP0803LearningMgmtSystem120</u> 307.doc

- Neal, T. & Marshall, S. (2008, March). *Report on the distance and flexible education capability assessment of the New Zealand ITP sector*. Blended Solutions.
- Nichols, M. (2002). Development of a quality assurance system for e-learning projects. In A. Williams, C. Gunn, A. Young & T. Clear (Eds.). *Proceedings of the* 19th Annual Conference of ASCILITE. Auckland, New Zealand: UNITEC University of Auckland. Retrieved 07.12.04 from <u>http://www.ascilite.org.au/conferences/auckland02/proceedings/papers/004.pdf</u>
- Northland Institute of Technology (NorthTec). (n.d.). *Flexible learning*. Retrieved 26.04.08 from <u>http://www.northland.ac.nz/about\_us.asp?pageid=648</u>
- Oliver, R. (2001a). Assuring the quality of online learning in Australian higher education. In M. Wallace, A. Ellis & D. Newton (Eds.). *Proceedings of Moving Online II Conference* (pp. 222-231). Lismore: Southern Cross University.
- Oliver, R. (2001b). Seeking best practice in online learning: Flexible learning toolboxes in the Australian VET sector. *Australian Journal of Educational Technology.* 17(2), 204-222.
- Oliver, R. (2003). *Exploring benchmarks and standards for assuring quality online teaching and learning in higher education*. Paper presented at the 16th Open and Distance Learning Association of Australia Biennial Forum, Canberra. Retrieved 17.12.04 from http://elrond.scam.ecu.edu.au/oliver/2003/odlaa.pdf

- Open and Distance Learning Quality Council (last updated 2000). *ODL QC standards*. Retrieved 13.12.04 from <u>http://www.odlqc.org.uk/odlqc/standard.htm</u>
- Otago Polytechnic. (2007). *Annual report 2007*. Retrieved 26.04.08 from Otago Polytechnic Website / About / Corporate Information / Annual Reports.
- Perraton, H. & Lentell, H. (Eds.). (2004). *Policy for open and distance learning*. London and New York: Commonwealth of Learning, Routledge Falmer.
- Phipps, R. A. & Merisotis, J. P. (2000). Quality on the line: Benchmarks for success in internet-based education. Retrieved 28.04.08 from <u>http://www.ihep.org/Publications/publications-detail.cfm?id=69</u>
- Phipps, R. A. W., Wellman, J. V. & Merisotis, J. P. (1998). Assuring quality in distance learning: A preliminary review. Washington DC: Council for Higher Education Accreditation.
- Te Whare Wānanga o Awanuiārangi. *Student services*. Retrieved 26.04.08 from <u>http://www.wananga.ac.nz/campuses/whakatane/Services.html</u>
- Tertiary Accord of New Zealand (TANZ). (n.d.). Statement of purpose. Retrieved on 26.04.08 from <u>http://www.tanz.ac.nz/about\_us/about\_us.asp</u>

The Open Polytechnic of New Zealand. (2006). *Annual report 2006*. Retrieved 26.04.08 from <a href="http://www.openpolytechnic.ac.nz/aboutus/corporatepublications/annualreport/ind">http://www.openpolytechnic.ac.nz/aboutus/corporatepublications/annualreport/ind</a>

- UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). (2002). *Teacher education guidelines: Using open and distance learning*. Retrieved 14.12.04 from <u>http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0012/001253/125396e.pdf</u>
- Universal College of Learning. (2006). *Annual report 2006*. Retrieved 26.04.08 from <u>http://www.ucol.ac.nz/main.asp?page=50</u>
- University of Auckland. (n.d.). *Teaching and learning plan*. Retrieved 26.04.08 from <a href="http://www.auckland.ac.nz/uoa/about/teaching/elearning/">http://www.auckland.ac.nz/uoa/about/teaching/elearning/</a>
- University of Canterbury. (n.d.). *Teaching and learning plan*. Retrieved 26.04.08 from <a href="http://www.teachlearn.canterbury.ac.nz/">http://www.teachlearn.canterbury.ac.nz/</a>
- University of Otago. (2005). *Learning and teaching plan*. Retrieved 26.04.08 from <u>http://www.otago.ac.nz/about/official\_documents.html#tlp</u>
- Waikato Institute of Technology (Wintec). (2007). *Annual report 2007*. Retrieved 26.04.08 from <u>http://www.wintec.ac.nz/</u>
- Whitireia Community College. (2006). *Annual report 2006*. Retrieved 26.04.08 from <u>http://www.whitireia.ac.nz/page\_display.php?category\_id=1&subcategory\_id=0&p</u> <u>age\_id=252</u>
- Zastrocky, M., Harris, M. & Lowendahl, J.-M. (2008). *e-Learning for higher education: Are we reaching maturity?* Gartner Research, ID Number: G00156361.